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PART I

 
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, “we,” “our,” “us,” “LMP” and “the Company” refer to LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries, unless the context requires otherwise.
 

Forward-Looking and Cautionary Statements
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by us, contain
statements that constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking
statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future performance. Instead, they are based on our current beliefs, expectations and assumptions
regarding the future of our business, future plans and strategies, and other future conditions. Forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as
“anticipate,” “believe,” “envision,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “predict,” “project,” “target,” “potential,” “will,” “would,” “could,”
“should,” “continue,” “ongoing,” “contemplate” and other similar expressions, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.
Examples of forward-looking statements include, among others, statements we make regarding:

 
● future financial position;

 
● business strategy;

 
● budgets, projected costs and plans;

 
● future industry growth;

 
● financing sources;

 
● the impact of litigation, government inquiries and investigations; and

 
● all other statements regarding our intent, plans, beliefs or expectations or those of our directors or officers.
 

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on
our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking
statements we make. Important factors that could cause actual results and events to differ materially from those indicated in the forward-looking statements
include, among others, the following:

 
● our history of losses and ability to maintain profitability in the future;

 
● our ability to effectively manage our rapid growth;

 
● our ability to maintain customer service quality and reputational integrity and enhance our brand;

 
● our limited operating history;

 
● the seasonal and other fluctuations in our quarterly operating results;

 
● our management’s accounting judgments and estimates, as well as changes to accounting policies;

 
● our ability to compete in the highly competitive industry in which we participate;
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● the changes in prices of new and used vehicles;

 
● our ability to acquire desirable inventory;

 
● our ability to sell our inventory expeditiously;

 
● our ability to sell and generate gains on the sale of automotive finance receivables;

 
● our dependence on the sale of automotive finance receivables for a substantial portion of our gross profits;

 
● our reliance on credit data for the automotive finance receivables we sell;

 
● our ability to successfully market and brand our business;

 
● our reliance on internet searches to drive traffic to our website;

 
● our ability to comply with the laws and regulations to which we are subject;

 
● the changes in the laws and regulations to which we are subject;

 
● our ability to comply with the Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991;

 
● the evolution of regulation of the internet and e-commerce;

 
● our ability to grow complementary product and service offerings;

 
● our ability to address the shift to mobile device technology by our customers;

 
● risks related to the larger automotive ecosystem;

 
● the geographic concentration where we provide services and recondition and store vehicle inventory;

 
● our ability to obtain affordable inventory insurance;

 
● our ability to raise additional capital;

 
● our ability to maintain adequate relationships with the lenders that finance our vehicle inventory purchases;

 
● the representations we make in the finance receivables we sell;

 
● our reliance on our proprietary credit scoring model in the forecasting of loss rates;

 
● our reliance on internal and external logistics to transport our vehicle inventory;

 
● the risks associated with the construction and operation of our inspection and reconditioning centers, hubs and vending machines, including our

dependence on one supplier for construction and maintenance for our vending machines;
 

● our ability to finance vending machines and inspection and reconditioning centers;
 

● our ability to protect the personal information and other data that we collect, process and store;
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● disruptions in availability and functionality of our website;

 
● our ability to protect our intellectual property, technology and confidential information;

 
● our ability to defend against claims that our employees, consultants or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed trade secrets or intellectual

property;
 

● our ability to defend against intellectual property disputes;
 

● our ability to comply with the terms of open source licenses;
 
● conditions affecting vehicle manufacturers, including manufacturer recalls;

 
● our reliance on third party technology to complete critical business functions;

 
● our dependence on key personnel to operate our business;

 
● the resources required to comply with public company obligations;

 
● the diversion of management’s attention and other disruptions associated with potential future acquisitions;

 
● the restrictions that could limit the flexibility in operating our business imposed by the covenants contained in the indenture governing our senior

unsecured notes;
 

● the legal proceedings to which we may be subject in the ordinary course of business; and
 

● risks relating to our corporate structure and tax receivable agreements.
 

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K represent our views as of the date of this Report. We undertake no obligation to publicly
update any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise.
 

Market and Industry Data
 

Some of the market and industry data contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based on independent industry publications or other publicly
available information. Although we believe that these independent sources are reliable, we have not independently verified and cannot assure you as to the
accuracy or completeness of this information. As a result, you should be aware that the market and industry data contained herein, and our beliefs and
estimates based on such data, may not be reliable.
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
 
LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. is a holding company that was formed as a Delaware corporation on December 15, 2017. LMP Class A common stock trades
on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “LMPX.”
 
On December 9, 2019, we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) of 2.645 million shares of common stock at a public offering price of $5.00 per share.
We received approximately $12 million in proceeds, net of underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses, which we plan to use for strategic
acquisitions, to build our vehicle inventory, for working capital and other general corporate purposes. Total equity from the IPO after deducting deferred
offering expenses of $1.5 million was approximately $10.5 million. See Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 for
additional information about our IPO. Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to “LMP,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to
both LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries prior to the IPO described in this report and to LMP and its consolidated subsidiaries
following the IPO.
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Our Company
 
LMP, through our wholly owned subsidiaries, currently offers our customers the opportunity to buy, sell, rent and subscribe for, and obtain financing for
automobiles both online and in person.
 
We describe our business model as “Buy, Rent or Subscribe, Sell and Repeat.” This means that we “Buy” pre-owned automobiles primarily through auctions
or directly from other automobile dealers, and new automobiles from manufacturers and manufacturer distributors at fleet rates. We “Rent or Subscribe” by
either renting automobiles to our customers or allowing them to enter into our subscription plan for automobiles in which customers have use of an
automobile for a minimum of thirty (30) days. We “Sell” our inventory, including automobiles previously included in our rental and subscription programs, to
customers, and then we hope to “Repeat” the whole process.
 

 
We believe we offer a stress-free and user-friendly experience, either directly or through arrangements with third parties, that enables consumers to
efficiently:
 
–  Browse and purchase a vehicle  –  Subscribe for a vehicle
–  Rent a vehicle  –  Sell or trade-in vehicle
–  Obtain pre-approval for financing (through third parties)  –  Buy extended warranties (through third parties)
–  Schedule pick-ups for all programs at the originating location and deliveries

for all programs are typically scheduled through third parties
    

 
Our platform is designed to streamline the automobile transaction value chain by digitizing a substantial part of the sales and transaction process. We believe
this will enhance the consumer experience by creating operational efficiencies that are designed to improve our financial and business performance. We also
intend to centralize sales, title, tag, finance, insurance and logistics operations, in order to create additional financial and operational benefits, as well as a
positive consumer experience. We believe that bringing more of the vehicle shopping and transaction experience online will provide consumers with a
broader range of purchase, rental and subscription options while eliminating time spent in negotiation and haggling.
 
We commenced our operations in the first quarter of 2017. Currently, we only offer sales of pre-owned automobiles, and rentals and subscriptions for both
pre-owned and new automobiles. As of December 31, 2019, our inventory consisted of 316 automobiles in total. Of those, 206 were subscribed and in use by
customers, 15 were out on rent in use by customers, 67 were on premise and available for subscription and rental consumers and 28 were held for sale on
premise. Our current facility is approximately 8,771 square feet on 1.25 acres of land. Our facility contains storage for ten vehicles on the interior and up to
90 on the exterior. We believe over 90% of our fleet will be rented and subscribed and in use by customers and we can facilitate over 1,000 subscribers using
our current facility.
 
Industry Overview
 
The automotive retail industry is highly competitive and fragmented. Consumers use a variety of online and offline sources to research vehicle information,
obtain vehicle pricing information and identify dealers. In addition, dealers use a variety of marketing channels to promote themselves to consumers.
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We believe that the following are the current key drivers of growth for the automobile industry:

 
● Economic Drivers.    Consumer confidence and employment are currently at a 17-year high1, which we believe will lead to continued growth in

consumer spending, including increased spending on automobiles.
 

● Emerging Technologies and Disruptive Business Models.    We believe the U.S. automobile industry is rapidly evolving through the adoption of
new technologies and disruptive business models, which we believe is driven primarily by consumer expectations and demands for a better
purchasing experience.

 
● Off-Lease Vehicles.    The number of off-lease vehicles has grown from 2.0 million in 2014 to 3.4 million in 20183. We believe that the off-lease

vehicle market can provide a steady supply of high-quality automobiles that will offer consumers a viable alternative to the new-vehicle market. We
expect that this will result in increased competition with the new vehicle market.

 
● Subscription Market.    We believe the subscription model has been widely adopted in several different sectors, such as consumer goods, streaming

media and data cloud services. Driven by consumer demand, the automobile industry has begun adopting a subscription model as an alternative to
ownership and leasing. Although we believe that vehicle ownership will continue to dominate the industry, we expect that the auto subscription
segment will grow steadily.

 
● Pre-Owned Automobile Sales Market.    America’s automobile industry is one of the most powerful engines driving the U.S. economy4.

According to Edmunds Used Vehicle Outlook 2019, approximately 40.2 million pre-owned vehicles were sold in 2018, up from 39.3 million pre-
owned vehicles sold in 2017.

 
Reorganization and Securities Issuances
 
The Company was incorporated under the laws of Delaware in December 2017. Samer Tawfik, our founder, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer,
contributed one hundred percent (100%) of the equity interests in each of LMP Motors.com, LLC and LMP Finance, LLC to the Company in December
2017, and in January 2018, 601 NSR, LLC and LMP Automotive Holdings, LLC made the Company their sole member. We refer to these transactions as the
reorganization. As a result of the reorganization, the Company now owns one hundred percent (100%) of the equity in each of these four entities. LMP
Motors.com, LLC currently operates our automobile sales business. LMP Finance, LLC currently operates our rental and subscription business. 601 NSR,
LLC and LMP Automotive Holdings, LLC were formed to enter into future potential strategic acquisitions, but are currently inactive. As a result of the
reorganization, Mr. Tawfik was issued 15,750,000 shares of common stock and ST RXR Investments, LLC, or ST RXR, a company wholly owned and
controlled by Mr. Tawfik, was issued 5,250,000 shares of common stock.
 
In February 2018, we completed an offering exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, or a private placement offering, pursuant to
which we sold 2,858,030 shares of our common stock, at a purchase price of $3.33 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $9,517,239.
 
From June 2018 through October 2018, we sold an aggregate of 787,264 shares of our common stock, in a private placement offering, at a purchase price of
$4.75 per share, for an aggregate purchase price of $3,739,505.
 
During the second and third quarters of 2018, we issued convertible promissory notes in an aggregate principal amount of $1,448,965, or the 6-month notes,
pursuant to a private placement offering. The 6-month notes bear interest at 4% per annum and mature six (6) months from the date of issuance, at which time
the principal and any accrued but unpaid interest shall be due and payable. The holders of the 6-month notes may, at any time prior to the maturity date,
convert the 6-month notes (and accrued interest) into shares of our common stock by dividing (a) the outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued
interest under the applicable 6-month note on the date of conversion by (b) $4.75 (subject to adjustment as provided in the 6-month notes). Based on the terms
of the conversion rights, we did not recognize a beneficial conversion discount.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we repaid eight of the 6-month notes in the principal amount of $962,000, and converted the remaining seven 6-
Month Notes to 44,684 shares of common stock with a principal and accrued interest value of $212,249.
 
During 2019, our CEO retired 18,500,000 beneficially owned shares of common stock for no value. In addition, four non-accredited investors were refunded
a total of $20,430, which cancelled 5,055 shares of common stock. Total outstanding shares of common stock prior to our IPO, after the share retirements and
refunds, were 6,001,639.
 
On December 9, 2019, we completed our IPO, selling 2,645,000 shares of common stock at an offering price of $5.00 per share, and warrants to purchase
shares of common stock. Aggregate gross proceeds from the IPO, which included the exercise in full of the representative’s over-allotment option, were
approximately $13,200,000, and net proceeds received after underwriting fees and offering expenses were approximately $12,000,000. Total equity from the
IPO after deducting deferred offering expenses of $1,500,000 was approximately $10,500,000.
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Employees
 
As of December 31, 2019, we had 14 full-time employees. Certain employees are subject to contractual agreements that specify requirements for
confidentiality, ownership of newly developed intellectual property and restrictions on working for competitors, as well as other matters.  None of our
employees is represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We consider our relationship with our employees to be strong.
 
Intellectual Property
 
We own or have rights to service marks or trade names that we use in connection with the operation of our business, including our corporate names, logos and
website names. In addition, we own or have the rights to trade secrets and other proprietary rights that protect the services that we offer. This annual report on
Form 10-K may also contain trademarks, service marks and trade names of other companies, which are the property of their respective owners. Our use or
display of third parties’ trademarks, service marks, trade names or products in this annual report on Form 10-K is not intended to, and should not be read to,
imply a relationship with or endorsement or sponsorship of us. Solely for convenience, some of the trade names and service marks referred to in this annual
report on Form 10-K are listed without their SM symbols, but we will assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights to our trade names and
service marks. All other trademarks, service marks and trade names are the property of their respective owners.

 
At this time we do not have trademark registrations or copyrights.
 
We are the registered holder of a variety of domestic and international domain names, including “lmpmotors.com”, “lmpsubscriptions.com” and
“lmprentals.com.”
 
In addition to the protection provided by our intellectual property rights, we generally enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreements with our
employees, consultants, contractors and business partners.
 
Our Internet website is www.lmpmotors.com.
 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.
 
Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider each of the following risks, together with all other information set
forth in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the financial statements and the related notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Conditions and Results of Operations”, before making a decision to purchase, hold or sell our common stock. The occurrence of any of the following risks
could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ materially from those
contained in forward-looking statements we have made in this report and those we may make from time to time. If any of the following risks actually occurs,
our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects would likely be materially and adversely affected. In these circumstances,
the market price of our common stock would likely decline and you may lose all or part of your investments.  Additional risks and uncertainties not presently
known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations.
 
Risks Related to Our Business
 
Our limited operating history makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects and make decisions based on those estimates of our
future performance.
 
We are a recently formed holding company with a limited operating history. The Company was incorporated under the laws of Delaware in December 2017.
Samer Tawfik, our founder, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, contributed one hundred percent (100%) of the equity interests in each of LMP
Motors.com, LLC and LMP Finance, LLC into the Company in December 2017, and in January 2018, 601 NSR, LLC and LMP Automotive Holdings, LLC
made the Company their sole member. Currently, LMP Motors.com, LLC, which operates our automobile sales business, and LMP Finance, LLC, which
operates our rental and subscription business, are the only subsidiaries that generate revenues. 601 NSR, LLC and LMP Automotive Holdings, LLC were
formed to enter into future potential strategic acquisitions, but are currently inactive. Because of the uncertainties related to our limited historical operations,
including the limited historical operations of LMP Motors.com, LLC, we may be hindered in our ability to anticipate and timely adapt to increases or
decreases in revenues or expenses, which may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and the value of an
investment in our common stock.
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We have a history of net losses.
 
We expect to continue to incur losses at least in the near term as we invest in and strive to grow our business. We may incur significant losses in the future for
a number of reasons, including a decrease in demand for automobiles and our related products and services, losses associated with our strategic acquisitions,
increased competition, weakness in the automotive industry generally, as well as other risks described in this annual report on Form 10-K, and we may
encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications and delays in generating revenue or profitability. If our revenues decrease, we may not be able to
reduce costs in a timely manner because many of our costs are fixed at least, in the short term. In addition, if we reduce variable costs to respond to losses,
this may limit our ability to acquire customers and grow our revenues. Accordingly, we may not achieve or maintain profitability and we may continue to
incur significant losses in the future, which may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and the value of an
investment in our common stock.
 
We depend on key personnel to operate our business, and if we are unable to retain, attract and integrate qualified personnel, our ability to develop
and successfully grow our business could be harmed.
 
We believe our initial success has depended, and continues to depend, on the efforts and talents of our executives and employees. Our future success depends
on our continuing ability to attract, develop, motivate and retain highly qualified and skilled employees. Qualified individuals are in high demand, and we
may incur significant costs to attract and retain them. In addition, the loss of any of our key employees or senior management, including our founder,
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Samer Tawfik, could have a materially adverse effect on our ability to execute our business plan and
strategy, and we may not be able to find adequate replacements on a timely basis, or at all. Our executive officers and other employees are at-will employees,
which means they may terminate their employment relationship with us at any time, and their knowledge of our business and industry would be extremely
difficult to replace. We may not be able to retain the services of any members of our senior management or other key employees. If we do not succeed in
attracting well-qualified employees or retaining and motivating existing employees, our business could be materially and adversely affected.
 
We intend to acquire other companies and/or technologies, which could divert our management’s attention, result in additional dilution to our
stockholders and otherwise disrupt our operations and harm our operating results.
 
Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to grow our business in response to the demands of consumers and other constituents within the automotive
industry, as well as our ability to respond to competitive pressures. Part of our strategy is to do so through the strategic acquisition of complementary
businesses, such as independent and franchised dealerships and vehicle rental companies clustered in key metropolitan areas, and technologies, in addition to
our own internal development efforts. The identification of suitable acquisition candidates can be difficult, time-consuming and costly, and we may not be
able to successfully complete identified acquisitions. The risks we face in connection with acquisitions include:
 

● diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to addressing acquisition integration challenges;
 

● coordination of technology, research and development, and sales and marketing functions;
 

● transition of the acquired company’s users to our website and mobile applications;
 

● retention of employees from the acquired company;
 

● cultural challenges associated with integrating employees from the acquired company into our organization;
 

● integration of the acquired company’s accounting, management information, human resources and other administrative systems;
 

● the need to implement or improve controls, policies and procedures at a business that, prior to the acquisition, may have lacked effective controls,
policies and procedures;
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● potential write-offs of intangibles or other assets acquired in such transactions that may have an adverse effect on our operating results;

 
● liability for activities of the acquired company before the acquisition, including patent and trademark infringement claims, violations of laws,

commercial disputes, tax liabilities, and other known and unknown liabilities; and
 

● litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims from terminated employees, consumers, former stockholders, or
other third parties.

 
Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our planned acquisitions and investments could cause us to fail to realize
the anticipated benefits of these acquisitions or investments, cause us to incur unanticipated liabilities and otherwise harm our business. Future acquisitions
could also result in dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization expenses, or the write-off of
goodwill, any of which could harm our financial condition. Also, the anticipated benefits of any acquisitions may not materialize. Any of these risks, if
realized, could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
 
We expect that we will require additional capital to pursue our business objectives and respond to business opportunities, challenges and/or
unforeseen circumstances. If such capital is not available to us, or is not available on favorable terms, our business, operating results and financial
condition may be harmed.
 
While we intend to use the proceeds from our IPO for our strategic acquisitions, to build our vehicle inventory, for working capital and other general
corporate purposes, we expect that we will require additional capital to pursue our business objectives and respond to business opportunities, challenges
and/or unforeseen circumstances, including to increase our marketing expenditures in order to improve our brand awareness, build and maintain our inventory
of quality pre-owned vehicles, develop new products or services or further improve existing services, enhance our operating infrastructure and acquire
complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity, debt or other types of financings to secure additional funds.
Additional funds may not be available when we need them on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. In addition, any debt financing that we secure in the
future could involve restrictive covenants which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities.
 
Volatility in the credit markets may also have an adverse effect on our ability to obtain debt financing. If we raise additional funds through further issuances
of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights,
preferences and privileges superior to those of our common stock. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us when
we require it, our ability to continue to pursue our business objectives and to respond to business opportunities, challenges or unforeseen circumstances could
be significantly limited, and our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects could be adversely affected.
 
Our business is subject to risks related to the larger automotive ecosystem, including consumer demand, global supply chain challenges and other
macroeconomic issues.
 
Decreases in consumer demand could adversely affect the market for vehicle purchases and, as a result, reduce the number of consumers using our platform.
Consumer purchases of vehicles generally decline during recessionary periods and other periods in which disposable income is adversely affected. Purchases
of vehicles are typically discretionary for consumers and have been, and may continue to be, affected by negative trends in the economy and other factors,
including rising interest rates, the cost of energy and gasoline, the availability and cost of credit, reductions in business and consumer confidence, stock
market volatility, increased regulation and increased unemployment. Increased environmental regulation has made, and may in the future make, used vehicles
more expensive and less desirable for consumers. In addition, our business may be negatively affected by challenges to the larger automotive ecosystem,
including urbanization, global supply chain challenges and other macroeconomic issues. For example, vehicle rideshare services, such as Uber, Juno, Lyft,
and Via, vehicle sharing, and other services that allow people to supplement transit trips and share vehicles are becoming increasingly popular as a means of
transportation and may decrease consumer demand for the pre-owned vehicles we sell, particularly as urbanization increases. Additionally, new technologies
such as autonomous or self-driving vehicles have the potential to change the dynamics of vehicle ownership in the future. Any of the foregoing could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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We participate in a highly competitive industry, and pressure from existing and new companies may adversely affect our business and operating
results.
 
We face significant competition from existing and new companies that provide, among other things, automobile listings, information, lead generation, and
vehicle buying, rental and subscription services.
 
Our current and future competitors may include:

 
● traditional automotive dealerships that could increase investment in technology and infrastructure to compete directly with our online platform;

 
● Internet and online automotive sites that could change their models to directly compete with us, such as Google, Amazon, AutoTrader.com, eBay

Motors, Edmunds.com, KBB.com, Autobytel.com, TrueCar.com and Cars.com;
 

● providers of offline, membership-based vehicle buying services such as the Costco Auto Program;
 

● used vehicle dealers or marketplaces with e-commerce business or online platforms such as Carvana, Vroom and Shift;
 

● national rental car companies such as Sixt Rent A Car, Hertz, Avis, Budget and Enterprise, as well as local and regional car rental services;
 

● vehicle subscription services, and other pay-as-you-go services, such as ZipCar and Flexdrive, and similar services offered by large automobile
manufacturers such as Volvo and BMW;

 
● other automobile manufacturers that could change their sales models through technology and infrastructure investment; and

 
● Peer-to-peer ride-sharing companies.

 
We also expect that new competitors will continue to enter the online and traditional automotive retail, rental and subscription market with competing brands,
business models, products and services, which could have an adverse effect on our revenue, business and financial results. Some of these companies have
significantly greater resources than we do and may be able to provide consumers access to a greater inventory of vehicles at lower prices while delivering a
competitive online experience.
 
Our current and potential competitors may also develop and market new technologies that may adversely affect our business and operating results.
 
Our current and potential competitors may also develop and market new technologies that render our existing or future business model, products and services
less competitive, unmarketable or obsolete. For example, manufacturers are beginning to develop automated, driverless vehicles that could eventually reduce
the demand for, or replace, traditional vehicles, including the vehicles that we currently sell. Additionally, vehicle rideshare services, such as Uber, Juno, Lyft,
and Via, vehicle sharing, and other services that allow people to supplement transit trips and share vehicles, are becoming increasingly popular as a means of
transportation and may decrease consumer demand for vehicle ownership. In addition, if our competitors develop business models, products or services with
similar or superior functionality to our solutions, it may adversely impact our business.
 
Our competitors may also impede our ability to reach consumers or commence operations in certain jurisdictions. For example, our competitors may increase
their search engine optimization efforts and outbid us for search terms on various search engines. Additionally, our competitors could use their political
influence and increase lobbying efforts resulting in new regulations or interpretations of existing regulations that could prevent us from operating in certain
jurisdictions.
 
Our current and potential competitors may have significantly greater resources than we do.
 
Our current and potential competitors may have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we have, and the ability to
devote greater resources to the development, promotion and support of their business. Additionally, they may have more extensive automotive industry
relationships, longer operating histories and greater name recognition than we have. As a result, these competitors may be able to respond to changes in the
automotive industry more quickly with new technologies and undertake more extensive marketing or promotional campaigns. If we are unable to compete
with these companies, the demand for our automobiles, products and services could substantially decline. In addition, if one or more of our competitors were
to merge or partner with another one of our competitors, the change in the competitive landscape could adversely affect our ability to compete effectively. Our
competitors may also establish or strengthen cooperative relationships with our current or future providers and suppliers, or other parties with whom we have
relationships, thereby limiting our ability to develop, improve and grow our business. We may not be able to compete successfully against current or future
competitors, and competitive pressures may harm our revenue, business and financial results.
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Our business is dependent upon access to a desirable vehicle inventory. Obstacles to acquiring attractive inventory, whether because of supply,
competition, or other factors, may have a material adverse effect on our business, sales and results of operations.
 
Our business requires that we have access to a large number of quality vehicles. We acquire vehicles for sale through numerous sources, including wholesale
auction, agreements with manufacturers, independent and franchise dealerships, trade-ins and directly from consumers. The sources from which we can
acquire vehicles of a quality and in a quantity acceptable to us are limited, and there is substantial competition to acquire the vehicles we purchase. There can
be no assurance that the supply of desirable vehicles will be sufficient to meet our needs. A reduction in the availability of or access to sources of inventory,
including an increase in competition for quality vehicles, could diminish our ability to obtain sufficient inventory at a price that we can reflect in retail market
prices and would have a material adverse effect on our business, sales and results of operations. Additionally, we evaluate potential vehicles regularly using
third-party systems to predict mechanical soundness, consumer desirability and relative value of prospective inventory. If we fail to adjust appraisal offers to
stay in line with broader market trade-in offer trends, or fail to recognize those trends, it could adversely affect our ability to acquire inventory effectively.
Our ability to source vehicles through our appraisal process could also be affected by competition, both from new and used vehicle dealers directly and
through third party websites driving appraisal traffic to those dealers.
 
Our business is dependent upon our ability to expeditiously sell inventory. Failure to expeditiously sell our inventory could have a material adverse
effect on our business, sales and results of operations.
 
Our purchases of vehicles are based in large part on projected demand. If actual sales are materially less than our forecasts, we would experience an over-
supply of vehicle inventory. An over-supply of vehicle inventory will generally cause downward pressure on our product sales prices and margins and
increase our average days to sale.
 
Pre-owned vehicle inventory has typically represented, and will continue to represent, a significant portion of our total assets. Having such a large portion of
our total assets in the form of pre-owned vehicle inventory for an extended period of time subjects us to depreciation and other risks that may affect our
results of operations. Accordingly, if we have excess inventory or our average days-to-sale increases, we may be unable to liquidate such inventory in a timely
manner, or do so at prices that would allow us to meet margin targets or to recover our costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations.
 
Our business is sensitive to changes in the prices of new and pre-owned vehicles.
 
Any significant changes in retail prices for new or pre-owned vehicles could have a material adverse effect on our revenues and results of operations. For
example, if retail prices for pre-owned vehicles rise relative to retail prices for new vehicles, it could make buying a new vehicle more attractive to consumers
than buying a used vehicle, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and could result in reduced used vehicle sales and lower
revenue. Additionally, manufacturer incentives could contribute to narrowing the price gap between new and pre-owned vehicles. Pre-owned vehicle prices
may also decline due to an increased number of new vehicle lease returns over the next several years. While lower prices of pre-owned vehicles reduce our
cost of acquiring new inventory, lower prices could also lead to reductions in the value of inventory that we currently hold, which could have a negative
impact on gross profit. Furthermore, any significant changes in wholesale prices for pre-owned vehicles could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations by reducing our profit margins.
 
If our inventory or other costs of operations increase and we are unable to pass along these costs to our customers, we may be unable to maintain or
grow our sales margins.
 
Our inventory and other costs are variable and dependent upon various factors, many of which are outside of our control. A rise in vehicle acquisition costs
could erode our sales margins and negatively affect our results of operations. If we incur cost increases, we may seek to pass those increases along to our
customers. However, our consumers typically have limits on the maximum amount they can afford, and we may be unable to pass these costs along to them in
the form of higher sales prices, which would adversely affect our ability to maintain or increase margins.
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We rely heavily on logistics in transporting vehicles for delivery from point of purchase to our facilities, and finally to the customers, via third parties. Our
ability to manage this process both internally and through our network of transportation partners could cause a rise in inventory costs and a disruption in our
inventory supply chain and distribution. Further, any disruption in the vehicle transport industry or an increase in the cost of transport could adversely affect
our results of operations.
 
We could be negatively affected if losses for which we do not have third-party insurance coverage increase or our insurance coverages prove to be
inadequate.
 
We have third-party insurance coverage, subject to limits, for bodily injury and property damage resulting from accidents involving our vehicles that are
rented or subscribed for. We self-insure (that is, we do not have third-party insurance coverage) for other risks, such as theft and damages to vehicles that are
rented or subscribed for and are not otherwise covered by renters’ or subscribers’ insurance, and theft and damage to vehicles in our inventory. We account
for vehicle damage or total loss at the time such damage or loss is incurred. As a result, we are responsible for damage to our vehicles. A deterioration in
claims management, whether by our management or by a third-party claims administrator, could lead to delays in settling claims, thereby increasing claim
costs. In the future, we may be exposed to liability for which we self-insure at levels in excess of our historical levels and to liabilities for which we are
insured that exceed the level of our insurance. Claims filed against us in excess of insurance limits, or for which we are otherwise self-insured, or the inability
of our insurance carriers to pay otherwise-insured claims, could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. For example, damages resulting from a
significant natural disaster, such as a hurricane, fire or flood, or judgment against us for liability for damages resulting from our rental program could have a
material adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition, and our insurance coverage may be insufficient to compensate us for losses
that may occur. Should we be unable to renew our commercial insurance policies at competitive rates, this loss could have an adverse effect on our financial
condition and results of operations.
 
The success of our business relies heavily on our marketing and branding efforts and these efforts may not be successful.
 
We believe that an important component of our growth will be to successfully attract new visitors to our physical locations and our online platform. Because
we are a consumer brand, we rely heavily on marketing and advertising to increase brand visibility with potential customers. We intend to execute our sales
and marketing efforts by utilizing a multi-channel approach that utilizes brand building, as well as direct response channels in order to efficiently establish
and grow both locally and nationally and to increase the strength, recognition and trust in the LMP brand.
 
Our business model relies on our ability to scale rapidly and to decrease incremental customer acquisition costs as we grow. If we are unable to recover our
marketing costs through increases in customer traffic and in the number of transactions by users of our platform, or if our broad marketing campaigns are not
successful or are terminated, it could have a material adverse effect on our growth, results of operations and financial condition.
 
We rely on Internet search engines and social networking sites to help drive traffic to our website and our facilities, and if we fail to appear
prominently in the search results or fail to drive traffic through paid advertising, our traffic would decline and our business would be adversely
affected.
 
We depend in part on Internet search engines, such as Google, Bing and Yahoo!, and social networking sites, such as Facebook, to drive traffic to our website
and our facilities. Our ability to maintain and increase the number of visitors directed to our website is not entirely within our control. Our competitors may
increase their search engine optimization efforts and outbid us for search terms on various search engines, resulting in their websites receiving a higher search
result page ranking than ours. Additionally, Internet search engines could revise their methodologies in a way that would adversely affect our search result
rankings. If Internet search engines modify their search algorithms in ways that are detrimental to us, or if our competitors’ efforts are more successful than
ours, overall growth in our customer base could decrease or our customer base could decline. Further, Internet search engine providers could provide
automotive dealer and pricing information directly in search results, align with our competitors or choose to develop competing services. Any reduction in the
number of users directed to our website and/or our facilities through Internet search engines could harm our business and operating results.
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The traffic to our websites and mobile applications may decline and our business may be adversely affected if other companies copy information
from our websites and publish or aggregate it with other information for their own benefit.
 
From time to time, other companies copy information from our websites through website scraping, robots or other means, and publish, or aggregate it with
other information for their own benefit. When third parties copy, publish, or aggregate content from our websites, it makes them more competitive, and
decreases the likelihood that consumers will visit our websites or use our mobile applications to find the information they seek. While we may try to prevent
or limit these activities, we cannot guarantee that we will be successful in preventing or properly detecting such activities in the future. We may not be able to
detect such third-party conduct in a timely manner and, even if we could, we may not be able to prevent it. In some cases, particularly in the case of third
parties that operate outside of the United States, our available remedies may be inadequate to protect us against such activities. In addition, we may be
required to expend significant financial or other resources to successfully enforce our rights. If any of these activities were to occur, it could adversely affect
our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
We depend on our e-commerce business and failure to successfully manage this business and deliver a seamless online experience to our customers
could have an adverse effect on our growth strategy, business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
 
We believe that sales from our e-commerce platform will account for a meaningful portion of our revenues. Our business, financial condition, operating
results and prospects are, and we believe will continue to be, dependent on maintaining our e-commerce business. Dependence on our e-commerce business
and the continued growth of our direct and retail channels subjects us to certain risks, including:

 
● the failure to successfully implement new systems, system enhancements and Internet platforms;

 
● the failure of our technology infrastructure or the computer systems that operate our website and their related support systems, causing, among other

things, website downtimes, telecommunications issues or other technical failures;
 

● the reliance on third-party computer hardware/software providers;
 

● rapid technological change;
 

● liability for online content;
 

● violations of federal, state, foreign or other applicable laws, including those relating to data protection;
 

● credit card fraud;
 

● cyber security and vulnerability to electronic break-ins and other similar disruptions; and
 

● diversion of traffic and sales from our stores.
 
Our failure to successfully address and respond to these risks and uncertainties could negatively impact sales, increase costs, diminish our growth prospects
and damage the reputation of our brand, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and
prospects.
 
Vehicle subscription is a relatively new business model, and may not be widely adopted.
 
We expect to derive a portion of our revenue from our vehicle subscription service, which is a relatively new and rapidly evolving market. If the market for
vehicle subscription fails to grow or grows more slowly than we currently anticipate, our business could be negatively affected. We currently only offer
vehicle subscription services in Florida. We intend to expand into markets that we believe are the most likely to adopt vehicle subscription services. However,
our efforts to expand within and beyond our existing market may not be successful.
 
We face risks related to liabilities resulting from the use of our vehicles by our rental and subscription customers.
 
Our business can expose us to claims for personal injury, death and property damage resulting from the use of vehicles by our rental and subscription
customers. For example, a rental or subscription customer may be using a vehicle that has worn tires, a mechanical issue or some other problem, including a
manufacturing defect, which could contribute to a motor vehicle accident resulting in serious bodily injury, death or significant property damage for which we
may be liable. In addition, since we cannot physically inspect our vehicles after they are delivered to our customers, we depend on our rental and subscription
customers and third-party service providers to inspect the vehicles prior to driving in order to identify any potential damage or safety concern with the
vehicle. To the extent that we are found at fault or otherwise responsible for an accident, our insurance coverage would only cover losses up to a maximum
amount.
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In addition, in certain jurisdictions, as the owner of the vehicle, there is the potential that we may have vicarious liability for any damages caused by our
renters or subscribers, even if we are not found to be negligent. Any such liability may have a material adverse impact on our business.
 
We anticipate that our business will be highly seasonal and any occurrence that disrupts our activity during our peak periods could materially
adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and cash flows.
 
Certain significant components of our expenses are fixed, including real estate taxes, rent, insurance, utilities, maintenance and other facility-related expenses,
the costs of operating our information technology systems and staffing costs. We anticipate that seasonal changes in our revenues will not affect those fixed
expenses, which typically result in higher profitability in periods when our revenues are higher, and lower profitability in periods when our revenues are
lower. Any circumstance, occurrence or situation that disrupts our activity during these periods could have a disproportionately material adverse effect on our
results of operations, financial condition, liquidity and cash flows due to a significant change in revenue.
 
We operate in a highly regulated industry and are subject to a wide range of federal, state and local laws and regulations. Failure to comply with
these laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
We are subject to a wide range of federal, state and local laws and regulations. Our sales, rental and subscription services, and related activities, including the
sale of complementary products and services, are, or may potentially be, subject to state and local licensing requirements, federal and state (or local) laws
regulating vehicle advertising, state or local laws related to sales tax, title and registration, state or local laws regulating vehicle sales and service, and state
laws regulating vehicle rentals and subscriptions. For example, a number of state legislatures are proposing to regulate vehicle subscription programs, and in
August 2018, the State of Indiana issued a moratorium on vehicle subscription programs until May 1, 2019.
 
Our facilities and business operations are subject to laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and health and safety. In addition to these laws
and regulations that apply specifically to our business, upon the completion of the IPO, we are also subject to laws and regulations affecting public
companies, including securities laws and NASDAQ listing rules. The violation of any of these laws or regulations could result in administrative, civil or
criminal penalties or in a cease-and-desist order against our business operations, any of which could damage our reputation and have a material adverse effect
on our business, sales and results of operations. We have incurred and will continue to incur capital and operating expenses and other costs in order to comply
with these laws and regulations.
 
Our business is subject to the state and local licensing requirements of the jurisdictions in which we operate and in which our customers reside. Regulators of
jurisdictions in which our customers reside, but for which we do not have an applicable dealer license, could require that we obtain a license or otherwise
comply with various state regulations. Regulators may seek to impose punitive fines for operating without a license or demand we seek a license in those
jurisdictions, any of which may inhibit our ability to do business in those jurisdictions, increase our operating expenses and adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.
 
With respect to our advertising, private plaintiffs, as well as federal, state and local regulatory and law enforcement authorities, continue to scrutinize
advertising, sales, financing and insurance activities in the sale and leasing of pre-owned vehicles. If, as a result, other automotive retailers adopt more
transparent, consumer-oriented business practices, it may be difficult for us to differentiate ourselves from other retailers.
 
The foregoing description of laws and regulations to which we are or may be subject is not exhaustive, and the regulatory framework governing our
operations is subject to continuous change.
 

13



 

  
Changes in government regulation affecting the communications industry could harm our prospects and operating results.
 
The Federal Communications Commission, or the FCC, has jurisdiction over the U.S. communications industry. Under current rules, the FCC regulates
broadband Internet service providers as telecommunications service carriers under Title II of the Telecommunications Act and enforces net neutrality
regulations that prohibit blocking, degrading or prioritizing certain types of internet traffic.
 
On February 26, 2015, the FCC reclassified broadband Internet access services in the United States as a telecommunications service subject to some elements
of common carrier regulation, including the obligation to provide service on just and reasonable terms, and adopted specific net neutrality rules prohibiting
the blocking, throttling or “paid prioritization” of content or services. However, in May 2017, the FCC issued a notice of proposed rulemaking to roll back net
neutrality rules and return to a “light touch” regulatory framework. Consistent with this notice, on December 14, 2017, the FCC once again classified
broadband Internet access service as an unregulated information service and repealed the specific rules against blocking, throttling or “paid prioritization” of
content or services. It retained a rule requiring Internet service providers to disclose their practices to consumers, entrepreneurs and the FCC. A number of
parties have already stated they would appeal this order and it is possible Congress may adopt legislation restoring some net neutrality requirements.
 
The elimination of net neutrality rules and any changes to the rules could affect the market for broadband Internet access service in a way that affects our
business. For example, any actions taken by Internet access providers to provide better Internet access to our competitors’ websites or limit the bandwidth and
speed for the transmission of data from our websites, could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.
 
We are subject to environmental laws and may be subject to environmental liabilities that could have a material adverse effect on us in the future.
 
We are subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and governmental regulations relating to the operation of our business, including those
governing the handling, storage and disposal of hazardous substances such as motor oil, gasoline, solvents, lubricants, paints and other substances at our
facilities. We face potentially significant costs relating to claims, penalties and remediation efforts in the event of non-compliance with existing and future
laws and regulations. A failure by us to comply with environmental laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business financial
condition and results of operations.
 
Changes in the laws and regulations to which our business and industry is subject could have a material adverse effect on our business, sales, results
of operations and financial condition.
 
Recent federal legislative and regulatory initiatives and reforms may result in an increase in expenses or a decrease in revenues, which could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations. For example, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, or the Dodd-Frank Act,
regulates, among other things, the provision of consumer financing. The Dodd-Frank Act established the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or the
CFPB, a consumer financial protection agency with broad regulatory powers. The CFPB is responsible for administering and enforcing laws and regulations
related to consumer financial products and services, including our provision of vehicle financing and our receivables sale facilities. The evolving regulatory
environment in the wake of the Dodd-Frank Act and the creation of the CFPB may increase the cost of regulatory compliance or result in changes to business
practices that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
 
The enactment of new laws and regulations or the interpretation of existing laws and regulations in an unfavorable way may affect the operation of our
business, directly or indirectly, which could result in substantial regulatory compliance costs, civil or criminal penalties, including fines, adverse publicity,
decreased revenues and increased expenses.
 
If we fail to comply with the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, or the TCPA, we may face significant damages, which could harm our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
We utilize telephone calls and intend to utilize text messaging as a means of responding to customer interest in purchasing, renting or subscribing for vehicles.
We generate leads from our website by prompting potential customers to provide their phone numbers so that we may contact them in response to their
interest in specific vehicles. We also intend to engage and pay third parties to provide us with leads. A portion of our revenue comes from sales that involve
calls made by our internal call centers to these potential customers.
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The TCPA, as interpreted and implemented by the FCC, imposes significant restrictions on utilization of telephone calls and text messages to residential and
mobile telephone numbers as a means of communication, when the prior consent of the person being contacted has not been obtained. Violations of the TCPA
may be enforced by the FCC or by individuals through litigation, including class actions and statutory penalties for TCPA violations ranging from $500 to
$1,500 per violation, which is often interpreted to mean per phone call.
 
While we intend to implement processes and procedures to comply with the TCPA, any failure by us or the third parties on which we rely for data to adhere
to, or successfully implement, appropriate processes and procedures in response to existing or future regulations could result in legal and monetary liability,
fines and penalties, or damage to our reputation in the marketplace, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. Additionally, any changes to the TCPA or its interpretation that further restrict the way we contact and communicate with our potential
customers or generate leads, or any governmental or private enforcement actions related thereto, could adversely affect our ability to attract customers and
harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
Government regulation of the Internet and e-commerce is evolving, and unfavorable changes or failure by us to comply with these regulations could
substantially harm our business and results of operations.
 
We are subject to general business regulations and laws as well as regulations and laws specifically governing the Internet and e-commerce. Existing and
future regulations and laws could impede the growth of the Internet, e-commerce or mobile commerce. These regulations and laws may involve taxes, tariffs,
privacy and data security, anti-spam, content protection, electronic contracts and communications, consumer protection, Internet neutrality and gift cards. It is
not clear how existing laws governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes and consumer privacy apply to the Internet as the vast majority
of these laws were adopted prior to the advent of the Internet and do not contemplate or address the unique issues raised by the Internet or e-commerce. It is
possible that general business regulations and laws, or those specifically governing the Internet or e-commerce, may be interpreted and applied in a manner
that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules or our practices.
 
Though we seek at all times to be in full compliance with all such laws, we cannot be sure that our practices have complied, comply or will comply fully with
all such laws and regulations. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with any of these laws or regulations could result in damage to our reputation,
a loss in business and proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others. Any such proceeding or action could damage our reputation and
brand, force us to spend significant amounts in defense of these proceedings, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business, decrease the use
of our website by consumers and result in the imposition of monetary liability. We may also be contractually liable to indemnify and hold harmless third
parties from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with any such laws or regulations.
 
We collect, process, store, share, disclose and use personal information and other data, and our actual or perceived failure to protect such
information and data could damage our reputation and brand and harm our business and operating results.
 
We collect, process, store, share, disclose and use personal information and other data provided by consumers. We rely on encryption and authentication
technology licensed from third parties to effect secure transmission of such information. We may need to expend significant resources to protect against
security breaches or to address problems caused by breaches. Any failure or perceived failure to maintain the security of personal and other data that is
provided to us by consumers and vendors could harm our reputation and brand and expose us to a risk of loss or litigation and possible liability, any of which
could adversely affect our business and operating results.
 
Additionally, concerns about our practices with regard to the collection, use or disclosure of personal information or other privacy related matters, even if
unfounded, could harm our business and operating results. There are numerous federal, state and local laws regarding privacy and the collection, processing,
storing, sharing, disclosing, using and protecting of personal information and other data, the scope of which are changing, subject to differing interpretations,
and which may be costly to comply with and may be inconsistent between jurisdictions or conflict with other rules. We generally comply with industry
standards and are subject to the terms of our privacy policies and privacy-related obligations to third parties. We strive to comply with applicable laws,
policies, legal obligations and industry codes of conduct relating to privacy and data protection, to the extent possible. However, it is possible that these
obligations may be interpreted and applied in new ways or in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules,
our practices, or new regulations that could be enacted. Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with our privacy policies, our privacy-related
obligations to consumers or other third parties, or our privacy-related legal obligations, or any compromise of security that results in the unauthorized release
or transfer of sensitive information, which may include personally identifiable information or other customer data, may result in governmental enforcement
actions, litigation or public statements against us by consumer advocacy groups or others. This also could cause consumers and vendors to lose trust in us,
which could have an adverse effect on our business. Additionally, if vendors, developers or other third parties that we work with violate applicable laws or our
policies, such violations may also put consumer and vendor information at risk and could in turn harm our reputation, business and operating results.
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A significant disruption in service on our website could damage our reputation and result in a loss of consumers, which could harm our business,
brand, operating results and financial condition.
 
Our brand, reputation and ability to attract customers depend on the reliable performance of our website and the supporting systems, technology and
infrastructure. We may experience significant interruptions with our systems in the future. Interruptions in these systems, whether due to system failures,
programming or configuration errors, computer viruses, or physical or electronic break-ins, could affect the availability of our inventory on our website and
prevent or inhibit the ability of customers to access our website. Problems with the reliability or security of our systems could harm our reputation, result in a
loss of customers and result in additional costs.
 
We utilize cloud computing, or the practice of using shared processing resources at third party locations, to operate our website and e-commerce platform. We
do not own or control the operation of these third party locations. These third party systems, software and operations are vulnerable to damage or interruption
from fire, flood, power loss, telecommunications failure, terrorist attacks, acts of war, electronic and physical break-ins, computer viruses, earthquakes, and
similar events. The occurrence of any of these events could damage our systems and hardware or could cause them to fail.
 
Problems faced by our third party web hosting providers could adversely affect the experience of our customers. For example, our third party web hosting
providers could close their facilities without adequate notice. Any financial difficulties, up to and including bankruptcy, faced by our third party web hosting
providers or any of the service providers with whom they contract may have negative effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are difficult to
predict. If our third party web hosting providers are unable to keep up with our growing capacity needs, our business could be harmed.
 
Any errors, defects, disruptions, or other performance or reliability problems with our network operations could interrupt our customers’ access to our
inventory and our access to data that drives our inventory purchase operations as well as cause delays and additional expenses in arranging access to new
facilities and services, any of which could harm our reputation, business, operating results and financial condition.
 
We rely on internal and external logistics to transport our vehicle inventory throughout the United States. Thus, we are subject to business risks and
costs associated with the transportation industry. Many of these risks and costs are out of our control, and any of them could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
We rely on a combination of internal and external logistics for third parties to transport vehicles from point of purchase to our facilities, and finally to the
customers. As a result, we are exposed to risks associated with the transportation industry such as weather, traffic patterns, gasoline prices, recalls affecting
our vehicle fleet, local and federal regulations, vehicular crashes, insufficient internal capacity, rising prices of external transportation vendors, fuel prices and
taxes, license and registration fees, insurance premiums, self-insurance levels, difficulty in recruiting and retaining qualified drivers, disruption of our
technology systems, and increasing equipment and operational costs. Failure to successfully manage our logistics and fulfillment process could cause a
disruption in our inventory supply chain and distribution, which may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.
 
Our failure to maintain a reputation of integrity and to otherwise maintain and enhance our brand could adversely affect our business, sales and
results of operations.
 
Our business model is based on our ability to provide customers with a transparent and simplified solution to vehicle buying, renting and subscribing that we
believe will save them time and money. If we fail to build and maintain a positive reputation, or if an event occurs that damages this reputation, it could
adversely affect consumer demand and have a material adverse effect on our business, sales and results of operations. Even the perception of a decrease in the
quality of our brand could negatively impact results.
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Complaints or negative publicity about our business practices, marketing and advertising campaigns, compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the
integrity of the data that we provide to users, data privacy and security issues, and other aspects of our business, especially on industry-specific blogs and
social media websites, and irrespective of their validity, could diminish consumer confidence in our platform and adversely affect our brand. The growing use
of social media increases the speed with which information and opinions can be shared and, thus, the speed with which reputation can be affected. If we fail
to correct or mitigate misinformation or negative information, including information spread through social media or traditional media channels, about us, the
vehicles we offer, our customer experience, or any aspect of our brand, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, sales and results of operations.
 
Our ability to grow our complementary product and service offerings may be limited, which could negatively impact our growth rate, revenues and
financial performance.
 
If we introduce or expand additional product and service offerings for our platform, such as services or products involving other vehicles, sales of new
vehicles, or vehicle trade-ins, we may incur losses or otherwise fail to enter these markets successfully. Our expansion into these markets would place us in
competitive and regulatory environments with which we are unfamiliar and involve various risks, including the need to invest significant resources and the
possibility that returns on such investments will not be achieved for several years, if at all. In attempting to establish new service or product offerings, we
expect to incur significant expenses and face various other challenges, such as expanding our customer service personnel and management personnel to cover
these markets and complying with complicated regulations that apply to these markets. In addition, we may not successfully demonstrate the value of these
complementary products and services to consumers, and failure to do so would compromise our ability to successfully expand into these additional revenue
streams. Any of these risks, if realized, could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
 
If we do not adequately address our customers’ shift to mobile device technology, operating results could be harmed and our growth could be
negatively affected.
 
Our future success depends in part on our ability to provide adequate functionality for visitors who use mobile devices to shop for vehicles and the number of
transactions with us that are completed by those users. The shift to mobile technology by our users may harm our business in the following ways:

 
● consumers visiting our website from a mobile device may not accept mobile technology as a viable long-term platform to buy or sell a vehicle. This

may occur for a number of reasons, including our ability to provide the same level of website functionality to a mobile device that we provide on a
desktop computer, the actual or perceived lack of security of information on a mobile device and possible disruptions of service or connectivity;

 
● we may not continue to innovate and introduce enhanced products that can be suitably conveyed on mobile platforms;

 
● consumers using mobile devices may believe that our competitors offer superior products and features based in part on our inability to provide

sufficient website functionality to convince a mobile device user to transact with us; or
 

● regulations related to consumer finance disclosures, including the Truth in Lending Act, may be interpreted, in the context of mobile devices, in a
manner which could expose us to legal liability in the event we are found to have violated applicable laws.

 
If we do not develop, upgrade and maintain suitable functionality for users who visit our website using a mobile device, our business and operating results
could be harmed.
 
Our business is sensitive to conditions affecting automotive manufacturers, including manufacturer recalls.
 
Adverse conditions affecting one or more automotive manufacturers could have a material adverse effect on our sales and results of operations, which could
impact the supply of vehicles. In addition, manufacturer recalls are a common occurrence that have accelerated in frequency and scope in recent years.
Recalls and the increased regulatory scrutiny surrounding selling pre-owned vehicles with open safety recalls could (i) adversely affect pre-owned vehicle
sales or evaluations, (ii) cause us to temporarily remove vehicles from inventory, (iii) cause us to sell affected vehicles at a loss, (iv) force us to incur
increased costs and (v) expose us to litigation and adverse publicity related to the sale of recalled vehicles, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The current geographic concentration where we provide services creates an exposure to local economies, regional downturns or severe weather or
catastrophic occurrences that may materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
 
We currently conduct business through our corporate and fulfillment, rental and subscription center located in Plantation, Florida. We currently hold all of our
inventory at our Plantation location. While we have insurance to cover certain losses on those vehicles, events such as theft, fire, flood, or hail could
adversely impact our business. In addition, our business is currently more susceptible to regional conditions than the operations of more geographically
diversified competitors, and we are vulnerable to economic downturns in those regions. Any unforeseen events or circumstances that negatively affect these
areas could materially adversely affect our revenues and profitability. These factors include, among other things, changes in demographics and population. In
addition, severe weather conditions, acts of God and other catastrophic occurrences in the area in which we operate or from which we obtain inventory may
materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. Such conditions may result in physical damage to our properties and loss of
inventory. Any of these factors may disrupt our business and materially adversely affect our financial condition and result of operations. Furthermore, there
can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully replicate our business model and achieve levels of success as we enter new geographic markets.
 
We may rely on agreements with third parties to finance our vehicle inventory purchases. If we fail to maintain adequate relationships with third
parties to finance our vehicle inventory purchases, we may be unable to maintain sufficient inventory, which would adversely affect our business and
results of operations.
 
We may rely on agreements with third party lenders to finance our vehicle inventory purchases. If we are unable to enter into agreements on favorable terms
or at all, or if the agreements expire and are not renewed, our inventory supply may decline, resulting in fewer vehicles available for sale. New funding
arrangements may be at higher interest rates or other less favorable terms. These financing risks, in addition to rising interest rates and changes in market
conditions, if realized, could negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition.
 
Our business is affected by the availability of financing to its customers.
 
Many of our customers finance their vehicle purchases. Although consumer credit markets have improved, consumer credit market conditions continue to
influence demand and may continue to do so. There continue to be fewer lenders, more stringent underwriting and loan approval criteria, and greater down
payment requirements than in the past. If credit conditions or the credit worthiness of our customers worsen, and adversely affect the ability of consumers to
finance potential purchases at acceptable terms and interest rates, it could result in a decrease in the sales of our products and have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property, technology and confidential information could harm our business and operating results.
 
Our business depends on our intellectual property, technology and confidential information, the protection of which is crucial to the success of our business.
We attempt to protect our intellectual property, technology and confidential information by requiring certain of our employees and consultants to enter into
confidentiality agreements and certain third parties to enter into nondisclosure agreements. These agreements may not effectively prevent unauthorized use or
disclosure of our confidential information, intellectual property or technology and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized use or
disclosure of our confidential information, intellectual property or technology. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property, unauthorized parties
may attempt to copy aspects of our website features, software and functionality or obtain and use information that we consider proprietary. Changes in the law
or adverse court rulings may also negatively affect our ability to prevent others from using our technology.
 
We currently hold rights to the “lmpmotors.com,” “lmprentals.com” and “lmpsubscriptions.com” Internet domain names and various other related domain
names. The regulation of domain names in the United States is subject to change. Regulatory bodies could establish additional top-level domains, appoint
additional domain name registrars, or modify the requirements for holding domain names. As a result, we may not be able to acquire or maintain all domain
names that we believe are important for our business.
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We may be subject to claims asserting that our employees, consultants or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their
current or former employees or claims asserting ownership of what we regard as our own intellectual property.
 
Although we try to ensure that our employees, consultants and advisors do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we
may be subject to claims that these individuals or we have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary information, of
any such individual’s current or former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in
addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against such
claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
 
In addition, while we intend to require our employees and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual property to
execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to us, we may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in fact, conceives
or develops intellectual property that we regard as our own. The assignment of intellectual property may not be self-executing or the assignment agreement
may be breached, and we may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to determine the ownership of
what we regard as our intellectual property.
 
We may in the future be subject to intellectual property disputes, which are costly to defend and could harm our business and operating results.
 
We may, from time to time, face allegations that we have infringed the trademarks, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property rights of third parties.
We may be unaware of the intellectual property rights that others may claim cover some or all of our technology or services. Patent and other intellectual
property litigation may be protracted and expensive, the results are difficult to predict and may require us to stop offering some features, purchase licenses or
modify our products and features while we develop non-infringing substitutes or may result in significant settlement costs.
 
Even if these matters that do not result in litigation are resolved in our favor or without significant cash settlements, these matters, and the time and resources
necessary to litigate or resolve them, could harm our business, our operating results and our reputation.
 
Our platform utilizes open source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more of these open source licenses could negatively
affect our business.
 
We use open source software in our platform and expect to use open source software in the future. The terms of various open source licenses have not been
interpreted by United States courts, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions
on our ability to market our platform. By the terms of certain open source licenses, if we combine our proprietary software with open source software in a
certain manner, we could be required to release the source code of our proprietary software and to make our proprietary software available under open source
licenses. In the event that portions of our proprietary software are determined to be subject to an open source license, we could be required to publicly release
the affected portions of our source code, or to re-engineer all or a portion of our technologies or otherwise be limited in the licensing of our technologies, each
of which could reduce or eliminate the value of our technologies and services. In addition to risks related to license requirements, usage of open source
software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the
origin of the software. Many of the risks associated with usage of open source software cannot be eliminated and could negatively affect our business and
operating results.
 
We rely on third party technology to complete critical business functions. If that technology fails to adequately serve our needs and we cannot find
alternatives, it may negatively impact our operating results.
 
We rely on third party technology for certain of our critical business functions, including vehicle telemetry, network infrastructure for hosting the website and
inventory data, software libraries and development environments and tools, services that allow customers to digitally sign contracts, and customer service call
center management software. If these technologies fail or we cannot maintain our relationships with the technology providers and we cannot find suitable
alternatives, our financial condition and operation results may be adversely affected.
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The obligations associated with being a public company require significant resources and management attention, and we incur increased costs as a
result of being a public company.
 
As a public company, we face increased legal, accounting, administrative and other costs and expenses that we had not incurred as a private company, and we
expect to incur additional costs related to operating as a public company. We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, which requires
that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and financial condition, and proxy and other information statements, as well as
the rules and regulations implemented by the SEC, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the
PCAOB, and the listing requirements of Nasdaq, each of which imposes additional reporting and other obligations on public companies. As a public
company, we are required to, among other things:

 
● prepare and distribute periodic reports, proxy statements and other stockholder communications in compliance with the federal securities laws and

rules and NASDAQ rules;
 

● expand the roles and duties of our board of directors and committees thereof and management;
 

● hire additional financial and accounting personnel and other experienced accounting and finance staff with the expertise to address complex
accounting matters applicable to public companies;

 
● institute more comprehensive financial reporting and disclosure compliance procedures;

 
● involve and retain, to a greater degree, outside counsel and accountants to assist us with the activities listed above;

 
● build and maintain an investor relations function;

 
● establish new internal policies, including those relating to trading in our securities and disclosure controls and procedures;

 
● comply with the listing and maintenance requirements of NASDAQ; and

 
● comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

 
We expect these rules and regulations, and any future changes in laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure,
which have created uncertainty for public companies, to increase legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time consuming and
costly. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases, due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their
application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty
regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. Our investment in compliance with
existing and evolving regulatory requirements will result in increased administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from
revenue-generating activities to compliance activities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
 
We also expect that being a public company will make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to
accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These increased costs may require us to divert a significant amount of money
that we could otherwise use to expand our business and achieve our strategic objectives.
 
We may be subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business. If the outcomes of these proceedings are adverse to us, they could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
We may be subject to various litigation matters from time to time, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition. Claims arising out of actual or alleged violations of law could be asserted against us by individuals, either individually or through class
actions, by governmental entities in civil or criminal investigations, and proceedings or by other entities. These claims could be asserted under a variety of
laws, including but not limited to consumer finance laws, consumer protection laws, intellectual property laws, privacy laws, labor and employment laws,
securities laws and employee benefit laws. These actions could expose us to adverse publicity and to substantial monetary damages and legal defense costs,
injunctive relief and criminal and civil fines and penalties, including but not limited to suspension or revocation of licenses to conduct business.
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Certain payments made by the Company in 2018 could be construed by a regulator as transaction-based compensation to an unregistered broker
dealer.
 
The SEC could characterize certain payments made by us to consultants as compensation to unregistered broker dealers based on investment proceeds. In the
event such payments are characterized as such, we may need to remediate with certain investors introduced to us by any such consultant(s), which investors
hold less than five percent of the shares of our common stock outstanding prior to this offering and less than one percent of our common shares following this
offering, assuming the offering is consummated on the terms set forth in this prospectus. Such remediation may include offering the affected investors the
right to rescind their investment in us. Any of these actions could expose us to liability which may have an adverse effect on our reputation, operating results
and financial condition. We estimate the maximum amount of any such remediation costs would be $771,102 plus accrued interest.
 
Unanticipated changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax returns could adversely
affect our operating results and financial condition.
 
We are subject to income taxes in the United States, and our tax liabilities will be subject to the allocation of expenses in differing jurisdictions. Our future
effective tax rates could be subject to volatility or adversely affected by a number of factors, including:

 
● changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;

 
● expected timing and amount of the release of any tax valuation allowances; or

 
● changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations thereof.

 
In addition, we may be subject to audits of our income, sales and other transaction taxes by U.S. federal and state authorities. Outcomes from these audits
could have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.
 
The wording, interpretation and enforcement of existing and future sales, use and excise tax laws by state and local governments could impact sales
and income from operations.
 
We are subject to state and local sales, use and excise tax laws of those states and localities in which we have a sufficient tax nexus. As we expand our
operations we will likely be subject to more taxing jurisdictions. In that regard, the wording, interpretation and enforcement of those tax laws by such state or
local governments could negatively impact our income and sales in such jurisdictions. Because a state or locality’s wording, interpretation or enforcement of
its tax laws may change over time, such as through new legislation, the issuance of new rules, regulations or by court or administrative decisions, or merely
from new administrative or audit policies or positions, it cannot be predicted whether or to what extent these changes will be negative to our operations and
sales in any such jurisdiction.
 
An increasing number of states and foreign jurisdictions have considered or adopted laws or administrative practices, with or without notice, that impose new
taxes on all or a portion of gross revenue or other similar amounts or impose additional obligations on remote sellers and online marketplaces to collect
transaction taxes such as sales, consumption, value added, or similar taxes. In June 2018, the U.S. Supreme Court in South Dakota v. Wayfair, Inc. et al. held
that states can require remote sellers to collect state and local sales taxes, which, given the scope of our anticipated operations, could increase the complexity
and risks for us to comply with such laws. We may not have sufficient lead time to build systems and processes to collect these taxes properly, or at all.
Failure to comply with such laws or administrative practices, or a successful assertion by such states or foreign jurisdictions requiring us to collect taxes
where we do not, could result in substantial tax liabilities and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and
prospects.
 
We are also subject to U.S. (federal and state) and foreign laws, regulations and administrative practices that require us to collect information from our
customers, vendors merchants, and other third parties for tax reporting purposes and report such information to various government agencies. The scope of
such requirements continues to expand, requiring us to develop and implement new compliance systems. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations
could result in significant penalties and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and prospects.
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Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock
 
There has been no public market for our common stock prior to our IPO, and an active market in which investors can resell their shares of our
common stock may not develop.
 
As our IPO was completed in December 2019, there has been minimal public market activity for our common stock. We cannot predict the extent to which an
active market for our common stock will develop or be sustained after our IPO, or how the development of such a market might affect the market price of our
common stock.
 
Our founder, Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chairman of the board of directors, Samer Tawfik, beneficially owns a majority of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, he has substantial voting power in all matters submitted to our stockholders.
 
Our founder, Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chairman of the board of directors, Samer Tawfik, beneficially owns approximately 43.55% of our
outstanding common stock. He has substantial voting power in all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval including:

 
● election of our board of directors;

 
● removal of any of our directors;

 
● any amendments to our certificate of incorporation or our Bylaws; and

 
● adoption of measures that could delay or prevent a change in control or impede a merger, takeover or other business combination involving us.

 
In addition, Mr. Tawfik’s beneficial stock ownership may discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control
of us, which in turn could reduce our stock price or prevent our stockholders from realizing a premium over our stock price.
 
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our Company more difficult, and limit
attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
 
Provisions in our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management.
Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws include provisions that:

 
● permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly created directorships by the affirmative vote of a

majority of the directors or stockholders holding at least 66⅔% of the issued and outstanding shares of common stock;
 

● provide that directors may only be removed by the majority of the shares of voting stock then outstanding;
 

● require a two-thirds majority of all directors who constitute the board of directors or a 75% majority voting of all holders of common stock to adopt,
amend or repeal any and all provisions of our Bylaws;

 
● provide different term limits to the directors of the Company according to their classification;

 
● require 66⅔% of the voting power of all then-outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company entitled to vote generally in election of directors to

amend, alter or repeal, or adopt any provision inconsistent with certain sections of our Certificate of Incorporation;
 

● eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders; and
 

● establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon by
stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

 
These provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of our management. In addition, because we are
incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or Section 203. Section 203 generally
prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any holder of at least 15% of our capital stock for a
period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became a 15% stockholder unless the business combination is, or the transaction in which
the person became an interested stockholder was, approved in a prescribed manner or another prescribed exception applies.
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The market price of our common stock may fluctuate, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
 
The price of our common stock may decline below the initial offering price of our common stock. The stock market in general, and the market price of our
common stock, will likely be subject to fluctuation, whether due to, or irrespective of, our operating results, financial condition and prospects.
 
Our financial performance, our industry’s overall performance, changing consumer preferences, technologies, government regulatory action, tax laws and
market conditions in general could have a significant negative impact on the future market price of our common stock. Some of the other factors that could
negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in our share price include:

 
● actual or anticipated variations in our periodic operating results;

 
● increases in market interest rates that lead investors of our common stock to demand a higher investment return;

 
● changes in earnings estimates;

 
● changes in market valuations of similar companies;

 
● actions or announcements by our competitors;

 
● adverse market reaction to any increased indebtedness we may incur in the future;

 
● additions or departures of key personnel;

 
● actions by stockholders;

 
● speculation in the media, online forums, or investment community; and

 
● our intentions and ability to list our common stock on NASDAQ and our subsequent ability to maintain such listing.

 
We are a public reporting company under the Exchange Act, and therefore publicly report on an ongoing basis as an “emerging growth company”
under the reporting rules set forth under the Exchange Act.
 
We are a public reporting company under the Exchange Act. We have elected to publicly report on an ongoing basis as an “emerging growth company” under
the reporting rules set forth under the Exchange Act. For so long as we remain an emerging growth company, we intend to take advantage of certain
exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other Exchange Act reporting companies that are not emerging growth companies
which may make our common stock less attractive to investors, including but not limited to:

 
● not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

 
● taking advantage of extensions of time to comply with certain new or revised financial accounting standards;

 
● being permitted to comply with reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements; and

 
● being exempt from the requirement to hold a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden

parachute payments not previously approved.
 
We expect to take advantage of these reporting exemptions until we are no longer an emerging growth company. We would remain an emerging growth
company for up to five years; although, we would cease to be an emerging growth company if we have more than $1.07 billion in annual revenues, have more
than $700 million in market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates, or issue more than $1 billion in principal amount of non-convertible debt over
a three-year period.
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Accordingly, for so long as we report as an emerging growth company, we will be subject to ongoing public reporting requirements that are less rigorous than
Exchange Act rules for companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” and our stockholders could receive less information than they might expect to
receive from more mature public companies.
 
We may not complete our analysis of our internal control over financial reporting in a timely manner, or these internal controls may not be
determined to be effective.
 
We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting in the second annual report we file with the SEC. This assessment will need to include disclosure of any material
weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. However, our auditors will not be required to formally attest to the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until we are no longer a non-accelerated filer or no longer an emerging
growth company if we take advantage of the exemptions available to us through the JOBS Act.
 
We are in the very early stages of the costly and challenging process of compiling the system and process documentation necessary to perform the evaluation
needed to comply with Section 404. In this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed
work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate,
validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over
financial reporting. As we transition to the requirements of reporting as a public company, we may need to add additional finance staff. We may not be able to
remediate any future material weaknesses, or to complete our evaluation, testing and any required remediation in a timely fashion. During the evaluation and
testing process, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to assert that our internal
controls are effective. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our auditors are unable to express an
opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls when they are required to issue such opinion, investors could lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which could harm our stock price.
 
We may not be able to satisfy listing requirements of NASDAQ or maintain a listing of our common stock on NASDAQ.
 
As our common stock is listed on NASDAQ, we must meet certain financial and liquidity criteria to maintain such listing. If we violate NASDAQ listing
requirements, our common stock may be delisted. If we fail to meet any of NASDAQ’s listing standards, our common stock may be delisted. In addition, our
board of directors may determine that the cost of maintaining our listing on a national securities exchange outweighs the benefits of such listing. A delisting
of our common stock from NASDAQ may materially impair our stockholders’ ability to buy and sell our common stock and could have an adverse effect on
the market price of, and the efficiency of the trading market for, our common stock. The delisting of our common stock could significantly impair our ability
to raise capital and the value of your investment.
 
We do not expect to declare or pay dividends in the foreseeable future.
 
We do not expect to declare or pay dividends in the foreseeable future, as we anticipate that we will invest future earnings in the development and growth of
our business. Therefore, holders of our common stock will not receive any return on their investment unless they sell their securities, and holders may be
unable to sell their securities on favorable terms or at all.
 
The preparation of our financial statements involves the use of estimates, judgments and assumptions, and our financial statements may be
materially affected if such estimates, judgments or assumptions prove to be inaccurate.
 
Financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America typically require the use of
estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts. Often, different estimates, judgments, and assumptions could reasonably be used that
would have a material effect on such financial statements, and changes in these estimates, judgments and assumptions may occur from period to period over
time. Significant areas of accounting requiring the application of management’s judgment include, but are not limited to, determining the fair value of assets
and the timing and amount of cash flows from assets. These estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently uncertain and, if our estimates were to prove
to be wrong, we would face the risk that charges to income or other financial statement changes or adjustments would be required. Any such charges or
changes could harm our business, including our financial condition and results of operations and the price of our securities. See “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for a discussion of the accounting estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are
the most critical to an understanding of our financial statements and our business.
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If securities industry analysts do not publish research reports on us, or publish unfavorable reports on us, then the market price and market trading
volume of our common stock could be negatively affected.
 
Any trading market for our common stock may be influenced in part by any research reports that securities industry analysts publish about us. We do not
currently have and may never obtain research coverage by securities industry analysts. If no securities industry analysts commence coverage of us, the market
price and market trading volume of our common stock could be negatively affected. In the event we are covered by analysts, and one or more of such analysts
downgrade our securities, or otherwise reports on us unfavorably, or discontinues coverage of us, the market price and market trading volume of our common
stock could be negatively affected.
 
Future issuances of our common stock or securities convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, our common stock, or, together, our
securities, or the expiration of lock-up agreements that restrict the issuance of new common stock or the trading of outstanding common stock, could
cause the market price of our common stock to decline and would result in the dilution of your holdings.
 
Future issuances of our securities, or the expiration of lock-up agreements that restrict the issuance of new common stock or the trading of outstanding
common stock, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. We cannot predict the effect, if any, of future issuances of our securities, or the
future expirations of lock-up agreements, on the price of our common stock. In all events, future issuances of our common stock would result in the dilution
of your holdings. In addition, the perception that new issuances of our securities could occur, or the perception that locked-up parties will sell their securities
when the lock-ups expire, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In connection with our IPO, the Company entered into a lock-up
agreement that prevents it, subject to certain exceptions, from offering additional shares of capital stock of the Company for up to one hundred and eighty
(180) days after the date of the IPO, as further described in the section titled “Underwriting.” In addition to any adverse effects that may arise upon the
expiration of these lock-up agreements, the lock-up provisions in these agreements may be waived, at any time and without notice. If the restrictions under the
lock-up agreements are waived, our common stock may become available for resale, subject to applicable law, including without notice, which could reduce
the market price for our common stock.
 
Future issuances of debt securities, which would rank senior to our common stock upon our bankruptcy or liquidation, and future issuances of
preferred stock, which could rank senior to our common stock for the purposes of dividends and liquidating distributions, may adversely affect the
level of return you may be able to achieve from an investment in our common stock.
 
In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by offering debt securities. Upon bankruptcy or liquidation, holders of our debt securities, and
lenders with respect to other borrowings we may make, would receive distributions of our available assets prior to any distributions being made to holders of
our common stock. Moreover, if we issue preferred stock, the holders of such preferred stock could be entitled to preferences over holders of common stock
in respect of the payment of dividends and the payment of liquidating distributions. Because our decision to issue debt or preferred stock in any future
offering, or borrow money from lenders, will depend in part on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the
amount, timing or nature of any such future offerings or borrowings. Holders of our common stock must bear the risk that any future offerings we conduct or
borrowings we make may adversely affect the level of return, if any, they may be able to achieve from an investment in our common stock.
 
If our shares of common stock become subject to the penny stock rules, it would become more difficult to trade our shares.
 
The SEC has adopted rules that regulate broker-dealer practices in connection with transactions in penny stocks. Penny stocks are generally equity securities
with a price of less than $5.00, other than securities registered on certain national securities exchanges or authorized for quotation on certain automated
quotation systems, provided that current price and volume information with respect to transactions in such securities is provided by the exchange or system. If
we do not retain a listing on NASDAQ or another national securities exchange and if the price of our common stock is less than $5.00, our common stock
could be deemed a penny stock. The penny stock rules require a broker-dealer, before a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, to
deliver a standardized risk disclosure document containing specified information. In addition, the penny stock rules require that before effecting any
transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from those rules, a broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a
suitable investment for the purchaser and receive (i) the purchaser’s written acknowledgment of the receipt of a risk disclosure statement; (ii) a written
agreement to transactions involving penny stocks; and (iii) a signed and dated copy of a written suitability statement. These disclosure requirements may have
the effect of reducing the trading activity in the secondary market for our common stock, and therefore stockholders may have difficulty selling their shares.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
 
None.
 
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
 
Corporate Headquarters. In March 2018, we entered into a lease agreement with a related party commonly owned by our CEO, effective through February
2023 with the option to extend to February 2028 for approximately 8,800 square feet of office, storage, and showcase space for our corporate headquarters
in Plantation, Florida. We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the immediate future and that, should it be needed, we will be able to
secure additional space to accommodate the expansion of our operations.
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
 
From time to time, we are involved in various claims and legal actions that arise in the ordinary course of business. Although the results of litigation and
claims cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that the ultimate resolution of these actions will have a material adverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.
 
Future litigation may be necessary to defend ourselves and our partners by determining the scope, enforceability and validity of third party proprietary rights
or to establish our proprietary rights. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation
can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
 
Not applicable.
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PART II

 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES.
 
Market Information
 
On December 5, 2019, our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Capital Market (“NASDAQ”) under the ticker symbol “LMPX” and our IPO
closed on December 9, 2019. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock.
 
Our preferred stock is not listed nor traded on any stock exchange.
 
Holders of Record
 
We are authorized to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of common stock, and up to 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of December 31, 2019, there were
156 shareholders of record of our common stock. The number of record holders does not include persons who held shares of our common stock in “street
name” accounts through brokers, banks and other financial institutions. As of December 31, 2019, there were no shareholders of record of our preferred stock.
 
Dividend Policy
 
We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock during the fiscal year and do not currently anticipate paying cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
 
During February 2018, we commenced a private placement equity offering, pursuant to which we sold 2,858,030 shares of our Common Stock at a price of
$3.33 per share, for aggregate consideration of approximately $9,517,200.
 
During the second and third quarters of 2018, we commenced a private placement equity offering, pursuant to which we sold 787,264 shares of our Common
Stock through September 30, 2018 at a price of $4.75 per share, for aggregate consideration of approximately $3,739,500.
 
The private placements discussed above are exempt from registration pursuant to Regulation D of the Securities Act, as the foregoing issuances did not
involve a public offering, the recipients were “accredited investors” and/or had access to similar information as would be included in a Registration Statement
under the Securities Act. No underwriters or agents were involved in the foregoing issuances.
 
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
 
You should read the following selected financial data in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations,” our audited consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and other financial
information included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
 
The consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the consolidated balance sheets data as of December 31,
2019 and 2018 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results
are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in any future period.

 

  
Year ended 

December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:       
Revenues  $10,858,594  $16,610,786 
Gross loss   (147,026)   (1,956,989)
Net loss  $ (4,029,851)  $ (6,490,293)
Net loss per share – basic and diluted  $ (0.24)  $ (0.27)
Weighted average number of common shares – basic and diluted   16,577,106   23,764,021 

 

  
Year ended 

December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:       
Cash  $ 6,508,055  $ 424,152 
Working capital   14,963,631   8,187,532 
Total assets   19,908,249   14,216,571 
Accumulated deficit   (10,600,358)   (6,552,886)
Total stockholders’ equity   15,847,437   14,216,571 
 
The basic and diluted net loss per common share was the same for each period presented as the Company’s potentially dilutive shares would be antidilutive. 
Total shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding were 8,691,323 and 24,645,294 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS. 
 
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with Part I, including matters set forth in the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Form
10-K, and our financial statements and notes thereto included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K. Except when stated otherwise, we present the discussion in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on a consolidated basis.
 
Overview

 
LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc., through our subsidiaries, currently offers our customers the opportunity to buy, sell, rent, and subscribe for, and obtain
financing for automobiles both online and in person.

 
We describe our business model as “Buy, Rent or Subscribe, Sell and Repeat.” This means that we “Buy” pre-owned automobiles primarily through auctions
or directly from other automobile dealers, and new automobiles from manufacturers and manufacturer distributors at fleet rates. We “Rent or Subscribe” by
either renting automobiles to our customers or allowing them to enter into our subscription plan for automobiles in which customers have use of an
automobile for a minimum of thirty (30) days. We “Sell” our inventory, including automobiles previously included in our rental and subscription programs, to
customers as well, and then we hope to “Repeat” the whole process.
 
Recent Developments
 
Public Offerings
 
On February 13, 2020, we completed an underwritten public offering of 1,200,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $16.00 per share,
raising gross proceeds of approximately $19,200,000 and net proceeds received after underwriting fees and offering expenses were approximately
$17,500,000. We intend to use the proceeds from the offering for strategic acquisitions, to build our vehicle inventory, for working capital and other general
corporate purposes.
 
Asset Acquisition
 
On February 19, 2020, we purchased approximately a $2,900,000 luxury vehicle fleet and entered into a non-exclusive perpetual software license for a
vehicle subscription service app for upcoming launch in the Apple App and Google Play stores.  Any enhancements to the software will be our exclusive
property.  The Bancorp and Sutton Leasing have agreed to finance the vehicles. We paid approximately $526,000 in cash and issued 33,183 shares of our
common stock at $14.69 per share (the closing price of our common stock on February 19, 2020) for the remainder of the transaction.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires our management to make
assumptions, estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements, including the notes thereto, and related disclosures of
commitments and contingencies, if any. We consider our critical accounting policies to be those that require the more significant judgments and estimates in
the preparation of financial statements, including the following:
 
Revenue Recognition
 
Used Vehicle Sales Revenue

 
Our business consists of retail and wholesale sales of used vehicles to customers. Sales are based on a physical showroom and efficient online showrooms on
our websites. We offer a home delivery service so that it delivers the car to the place agreed upon with the client. We also sell used vehicles in auctions.

 
We recognize revenue when we satisfy a performance obligation by transferring control of a vehicle to a customer. The prices of the vehicles are stated in its
contracts at stand-alone selling prices, which are agreed upon with our customer prior to delivery. We satisfy our performance obligation for used vehicle
sales upon delivery when the transfer of title, risks and rewards of ownership and control pass to the customer. We recognize revenue at the agreed-upon price
stated in the contract, including any delivery charges. In addition, any noncash consideration received from a customer (i.e., trade-in vehicles) is recognized at
fair value. Customer payment is received or third-party financing is confirmed prior to vehicle transfer.
 
We lease vehicles to third parties that are accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 842, Leases. These lease terms are short term in nature and generally
less than one year. The accounting for investments in leases and leased vehicles is different depending on the type of lease. Each lease is classified as either a
direct-financing lease, sales-type lease, or operating lease, as appropriate. If a lease meets one of the following five criteria, the lease is classified as either a
sales-type lease or direct financing lease; otherwise, it will be classified as an operating lease.

 
● The lease transfers ownership of the property to the lessee by the end of the lease term;

 
● The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise;

 
● The lease term is for the major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset (at least 75%);

 
● The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease payments

equals or exceeds substantially all (90% or more) of the fair value of the underlying asset;
 

● The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term.
 

Revenue on direct financing and sales-type leases is recognized at the inception of the lease and the related interest income is recognized over the term of the
lease using the effective interest method. Revenues on the sales of vehicles at the end of a lease are recognized at the inception of the lease, and any net gain
or loss on sales of such vehicles is presented within Vehicle Sales Revenues and Vehicle Sales Cost of Revenues in our consolidated statements of operations.
Interest income is derived from the discounted cash flows of the lease payments. Investments in sales-type leases are comprised of the minimum lease
payments receivable and guaranteed residual at their present value.
 
We collect sales taxes and other taxes from customers on behalf of governmental authorities at the time of sale. These taxes are accounted for on a net basis
and are not included in sales or cost of sales.
 
Subscription Revenue

 
We offer a vehicle subscription plan where a customer will pay a monthly fee in exchange for access to a vehicle. Our subscriptions include monthly swaps,
scheduled maintenance and upkeep, license and registration and in most cases roadside assistance. Customers have the flexibility to up-or-downgrade a
vehicle monthly, with the vehicle payment adjusted accordingly. There is an activation payment at subscription inception that varies based upon the monthly
payment of the selected vehicle. Monthly vehicle payments are dependent upon the vehicle selected by the customer. Due to the nature of the subscription
contract, where the subscriber can swap out the vehicle in the contract and the performance obligation is completed and recognized each month, the revenues
earned under these contracts are recognized in accordance with ASC 606.
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We recognize revenue when we satisfy a performance obligation by transferring control of a vehicle to a customer under a subscription contract. The prices of
the vehicles are stated in our contracts at stand-alone subscription prices, which are agreed upon with the customer prior to delivery. We satisfy our
performance obligation for monthly subscription payments upon delivery to the customer and in each subsequent month the customer retains possession of
the vehicle. We recognize revenue at the agreed-upon price stated in the contract in the month earned.

 
We also receive a one-time, non-refundable payment as an activation fee to our vehicle subscription program. This fee is deferred and amortized to income
monthly over the term of the subscription, as the performance obligation (providing a vehicle for the customer) is completed over the term of the subscription.

 
Customer payment has been received prior to initial vehicle transfer and on each monthly recurring anniversary date. We collect sales taxes and other taxes
from customers on behalf of governmental authorities at the time of sale. These taxes are accounted for on a net basis and are not included in sales or cost of
sales.
 
Rental Revenue

 
The Company accounts for revenue earned from vehicle rentals and rental related activities wherein an identified asset is transferred to the customer and the
customer has the ability to control that asset under FASB ASC 842, Leases.

 
Performance obligations associated with rental related activities, such as charges to the customer for the fueling of vehicles and value-added services such as
loss damage waivers, navigation units, and other ancillary and optional products, are also satisfied over the rental period.

 
Payments are due from customers at the time of reservation. Additional charges incurred by the customers are collected at the time of vehicle return. We
collect sales taxes and other taxes from customers on behalf of governmental authorities at the time of sale. These taxes are accounted for on a net basis and
are not included in sales or cost of sales.
 
Accounts Receivable

 
We carry our accounts receivable at cost. The terms of our accounts receivable require payment upon receipt. We establish an allowance based on our
management’s assessment of the creditworthiness of the customers, the aged basis of the receivables, as well as current economic conditions and historical
information. Management has determined that no allowance for uncollectible accounts for accounts receivable is necessary at December 31, 2019 or 2018.
 
Stock-Based Compensation

 
We recognize the cost of services received in exchange for awards of stock options in accordance with ASC 718 “Stock Compensation”, based on the fair
value of those awards at the date of grant over the requisite service period, which generally is the vesting period of the award. We use the Black-Scholes
option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option awards.
 
Income Taxes

 
We account for income taxes under ASC 740 - Income Taxes which codified SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” and FIN 48 “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes – an Interpretation of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement No. 109.” Under the asset and liability
method of ASC 740, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. Under ASC 740, the effect
on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period the enactment occurs. A valuation allowance is provided for
certain deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that we will not realize tax assets through future operations.
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Per Share Information

 
We compute net loss per share accordance with FASB ASC 205 “Earnings per Share.” FASB ASC 205 requires presentation of both basic and diluted
earnings per share (EPS) on the face of the income statement.

 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders (numerator) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding
(denominator) during the period. Diluted EPS gives effect to all potentially dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS excludes all
potentially dilutive shares if their effect is anti-dilutive.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

 
Our financial instruments consist of cash, prepaid expenses, payables, accrued expenses and notes payable. Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in
time, based on relevant market information about the financial instrument. These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of
significant judgment and therefore cannot be determined with precision. We consider the carrying values of our financial instruments in the consolidated
financial statements to approximate fair value, due to their short-term nature.
 
Inventory

 
Our inventory consists of automobiles, which are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined by specific identification and with market
defined as net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal, and transportation. Inventories at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are recorded based on perpetual inventory records.
 
We depreciate our fleet inventory monthly based on 1% of initial cost starting in 2018 when the subscriptions and rentals were launched. For the year ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, fleet vehicle depreciation approximated $991,000 and $640,000, respectively. This depreciation was recorded to Cost of
revenues – subscription and rental.
 
We periodically review our automobile inventory to determine whether any inventories have become obsolete or have declined in value and record a charge to
operations for known and estimated inventory obsolescence.
 
Property and Equipment

 
Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided for using straight-line methods over the estimated useful
lives of the respective assets, ranging from 5 to 7 years.
 
Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

 
We periodically evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be
recoverable. If the estimated future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) from the use of an asset were less than the carrying value, a write-
down would be recorded to reduce the related asset to its estimated fair value.
 
Leases

 
We adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“Topic 842”) using the modified retrospective adoption method with an effective date of January 1, 2019. This
standard requires all lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the lease payments. The adoption
of the new lease standard had a significant impact on our Consolidated Balance Sheets but did not have a significant impact on our lease classification or a
material impact on our Consolidated Statements of Operations and liquidity.

 
In order to calculate our lease liability, we make certain assumptions related to lease term and discount rate. For lease terms, we evaluate renewal options.
When available, we use the rate implicit in the lease to discount lease payments to present value. However, our lease does not provide a readily determinable
implicit rate. Therefore, we estimate the rate to discount lease payments based on the 5-year Treasury constant maturity rate on the date of the commencement
of the lease.
  

31



 

 
Results of Operations
 
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
 
Revenues and Costs of Revenues
 
We generated total revenues of $10,858,594 for the year ended December 31, 2019, including rental and subscription revenue of $351,885 and $1,389,679,
respectively, as compared with total revenues of $16,610,786, including rental and subscription revenue of $539,952 and $356,323, respectively, during the
comparative year ended December 31, 2018, a decrease of $5,752,192. The decrease mainly was due to the decrease in our vehicle sales, offset by an increase
in our subscription segment of the business.
 
Costs of revenues were $11,005,620 for the year ended December 31, 2019, including subscription and rental costs of $1,285,907, resulting in a negative
gross margin of $147,026. Costs of revenues were $18,567,775 for the year ended December 31, 2018, including subscription and rental costs of $889,388,
resulting in a negative gross margin of $1,956,989. This resulted in a decrease in cost of revenues over the year of $7,562,155 and resulted in an improvement
of gross margin of $1,809,963. The decrease in cost of revenues is mainly due to the decrease in our vehicle sales, offset by an increase in our subscription
segment of the business. We have sustained negative gross margins mainly due to the vehicle depreciation and sales of vehicles at losses in order to generate
immediate cash to fund the payments on the convertible notes, our common stock repurchases, and to fund monthly overhead costs. However, the gross
margin percentage has increased from a negative 12% for the year ended December 31, 2018 to a negative 1% for the year ended December 31, 2019.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

 
We incurred SG&A expenses of $2,974,752 during the year ended December 31, 2019, a decrease of $348,804 as compared with $3,323,556 incurred during
the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease is mainly due to decreases in expenses related to payroll of approximately $163,000, advertising of
approximately $160,000 and rent of approximately $142,000. In addition, we discontinued our Miami Beach, FL rental operations and consolidated them
with our Plantation, FL operation in the second quarter of 2019.
 
Acquisition, Consulting, and Legal Expenses

 
We incurred acquisition, consulting, and legal expenses of $761,813 during the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $722,722 during the year
ended December 31, 2018, an increase of $39,091. The increase during 2019 is mainly due to the increased use of outside accounting consultants and audit
fees.
 
Net Losses

 
We sustained net losses of $4,029,851 and $6,490,293 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, for the reasons described above.
 
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
 
We have provided certain non-GAAP financial measures, including EBITDA, Subscription Leasing and Rental Margins and Vehicle Sales Margins, to
supplement its financial results that are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). Management
uses these financial metrics internally in analyzing our financial results to assess operational performance and to determine our future capital requirements.
The presentation of this financial information is not intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared in
accordance with GAAP. We believe that both management and investors benefit from referring to these financial metrics in assessing our performance and
when planning, forecasting and analyzing future periods. We believe these financial metrics are useful to investors and others to understand and evaluate our
operating results and it allows for a more meaningful comparison between our performance and that of our competitors. Our use of EBITDA, Subscription
Leasing and Rental Margins and Vehicle Sales Margins have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider these performance measures in
isolation from or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Because of these limitations, you should consider these financial metrics
along with other financial performance measures, including total revenues, total gross profit and net loss presented in accordance with GAAP.
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EBITDA
 
We define EBITDA as net loss before interest expense, income tax expense, depreciation (including vehicle inventory impairment) and amortization.
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of EBITDA to net income, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, on a historical basis and for
each of the periods indicated.
 
  Year ended December 31,     
  2019   2018   Change  
EBITDA          
Net loss  $ (4,029,851)  $ (6,490,293)  $ 2,460,442 
Interest expense   34,637   31,377   3,260 
Tax   -   -   - 
Depreciation and amortization expense – property, equipment, leasehold improvements, and

intangibles, fleet vehicles, and inventory impairment   1,812,472   1,214,927   597,545 
EBITDA  $ (2,182,742)  $ (5,243,989)  $ 3,061,247 

  
Subscription Leasing and Rental Margins
 
We calculate Subscription Leasing and Rental Margins by deducting subscription and rental cost of revenues from subscription fee and rental revenues
adjusted for non-recurring, material adjustments.
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of Subscription Leasing and Rental Margins to subscription fee and rental revenues, the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measure, on a historical basis and for each of the periods indicated.
 
  Year ended December 31,     
  2019   2018   Change  
Subscription Leasing and Rental Margins          
Subscription fees revenue  $ 1,389,679  $ 356,323  $ 1,033,356 
Rental revenues   351,885   539,952   (188,067)
Total subscription fees and rental revenues   1,741,564   896,275   845,289 
Subscription and rental cost of revenues   (1,285,907)   (889,388)   (396,519)
Gross profit  $ 455,657  $ 6,887  $ 448,770 

Subscription leasing and rental margins   26.2%  0.8%  25.4%
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Vehicle Sales Margins
 
We calculate Vehicle Sales Margins by deducting vehicle sales cost of revenues and inventory impairment from vehicle sales revenue.
 
The following table provides a reconciliation of Vehicle Sales Margins to Vehicle Sales Revenue, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, on a
historical basis and for each of the periods indicated.
 
  Year ended December 31,     
  2019   2018   Change  
Vehicle Sales Margins          
Vehicle sales revenue  $ 9,111,513  $ 15,714,511  $ (6,602,998)
Vehicles sales cost of revenues   (8,993,797)   (17,148,404)   8,154,607 
Inventory impairment   (725,916)   (529,983)   (195,933)
Gross loss  $ (608,200)  $ (1,963,876)  $ 1,355,676 

Vehicle sales margin   -7%  -12%  -6%
 
Plan of Operations

 
Our operations have been limited to date. We recently completed our IPO where we received proceeds of approximately $12,000,000 (net equity of
$10,500,000 after deducting deferred offering expenses). We plan to use the net proceeds from the offering for our strategic acquisitions, to build our vehicle
inventory, and for working capital and other general corporate purposes.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
Cash Flow Activities

 
As of December 31, 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $10,600,358. We have incurred net losses since inception, and have funded operations primarily
through sales of our common stock, issuance of debt and a related party line of credit. As of December 31, 2019 we had $6,508,055 in cash.
 
The following table sets forth the primary sources and uses of cash for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018:

 
  Years Ended December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (3,981,754)  $ (13,472,142)
Net cash used in investing activities   (155,342)   (437,957)
Net cash provided by financing activities   10,220,999   14,116,891 
Net increase in cash   6,083,903   206,792 

 
Operating Activities

 
We used $3,981,754 in cash flows from operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $13,472,142 during the year ended
December 31, 2018. In 2019, the use of cash in operating activities was primarily due to the net loss of $4,029,851 and in 2018 it was primarily due to the net
loss of $6,490,293 as well as the net increase in inventory of $8,500,797.
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Investing Activities

 
We used $155,342 and $437,957 of cash flows in investing activities during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. We continue to
purchase new property and equipment and capitalize software development costs as part of our business plan to grow the company.
 
Financing Activities

 
We generated $10,220,999 of cash flows in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $14,116,891 generated during the
year ended December 31, 2018. During 2019, we received aggregate gross proceeds from the IPO, which included the exercise in full of the representative’s
over-allotment option, of approximately $13,200,000, and net proceeds received after underwriting fees and offering expenses were approximately
$12,000,000. Total equity from the IPO after deducting deferred offering expenses of $1,500,000 was $10,500,000. In 2018, we received cash of $13,256,534
from the issuance of stock in private placements and $1,448,965 from the issuance of convertible notes. In 2019 we borrowed approximately $2,164,000 on
vehicle floorplan and notes payables. These increases in cash in 2019 were offset by full repayment of the related party line of credit.
 
Use of Cash and Cash Requirements

 
During the fourth quarter of 2018 and in the first quarter of 2019, we sold certain fleet vehicles to make payments on convertible notes and fund our common
stock repurchases, as well as to fund our monthly recurring overhead.
 
Consolidation of Operations

 
In 2019 we discontinued our Miami Beach, FL rental operations and consolidated these operations with our Plantation, FL operation. As a result, two leases
that approximated $415,000 per year were terminated and we reduced staff by eight employees whose salaries approximated $356,000.
 
Sources of Capital

 
From inception to December 31, 2017, we funded our activities through capital contributions from Mr. Tawfik and issuances of notes payable to related
parties.

 
In January 2018, we entered into a $1,500,000 revolving line of credit (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) with ST RXR, which is owned and controlled by our
founder, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to a Revolving Line of Credit Agreement (the “LOC Agreement”). In September 2019
the LOC Agreement was amended and the line of credit was increased to $4,000,000. In the fourth quarter of 2019, the outstanding balance on the LOC was
paid in full.
 
From January 1 through September 30, 2018, we received an aggregate of $14,705,499 through the (i) issuances of the 6-Month Notes payable in the
principal amount of $1,448,965, (ii) issue and sale of an aggregate of $9,517,239 of our Common Stock, at a purchase price of $3.33 per share, and (iii) issue
and sale of an aggregate of $3,739,294 of our Common Stock, at a purchase price of $4.75 per share, each pursuant to a private placement offering to
accredited investors.

 
During the first and second quarters of 2019, we purchased an aggregate of 138,600 shares of our Common Stock from four (4) shareholders at an aggregate
price of $4.75 per share, or $658,350. These shares are currently held in treasury. During the quarter ended September 30, 2019, our CEO retired 18,500,000
beneficially owned common shares of stock for no value. In addition, four non-accredited investors were refunded a total of $20,430, which cancelled 5,055
shares. Total outstanding common shares after the share retirement and refunds was 6,001,639 prior to the IPO.
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In the second quarter of 2019, Mercedes-Benz Financial approved $3,500,000 for our subscription and rental fleet inventory purchases. During 2019, we
purchased vehicles totaling approximately $2,400,000 under various Note and Security Agreements with 10% cash down payments and the remaining
$2,160,000 financed over 36 months at an interest rate of 4.89%. At December 31, 2019, the outstanding principal balance was approximately $2,103,000.
 
In the third quarter of 2019, NextGear Capital approved a $250,000 vehicle floorplan line with an interest rate of 10% and principal payments due at 60 and
90 days and final payoff due at 120 days or upon vehicle sale. At December 31, 2019, the outstanding principal balance was approximately $60,000.
 
On December 9, 2019, we completed our IPO, selling 2,645,000 shares of common stock at an offering price of $5.00 per share, and warrants to purchase
shares of common stock. Aggregate gross proceeds from the IPO, net of the underwriting discount but before expenses, which included the exercise in full of
the representative’s over-allotment option, were approximately $13,200,000, and net proceeds received after underwriting fees and offering expenses were
approximately $10,500,000.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we repaid eight of the 6-Month Notes in the principal amount of $962,000, and converted the remaining seven 6-
Month Notes to 44,684 shares of common stock with a principal and accrued interest value of $212,249.
 
On February 13, 2020, we completed an underwritten public offering of 1,200,000 shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $16.00 per share,
raising gross proceeds of approximately $19,200,000. We intend to use the proceeds from the offering for strategic acquisitions, to build our vehicle
inventory, for working capital and other general corporate purposes.
 
We believe short-term liquidity and short-term capital resources will cover cash needs in the future. When combined with expense reductions through
consolidation of our operations, as previously discussed, cash on hand, increasing inventory through borrowings on vehicle financing and/or our line of credit
and revenues will be sufficient to cover our day-to-day operating expenses and material commitments at least over the next 12 months.
 
Contractual Commitments
 
Commitments to Purchase Vehicles

 
In 2018, we entered into a letter agreement with an importer of new BMW and MINI automobiles which has since expired and the remaining balance for
vehicles to be delivered was $0 as of December 31, 2019.

 
In the second quarter of 2019, Mercedes-Benz Financial approved a $3,500,000 line of credit for our subscription and rental fleet inventory purchases. During
2019, we purchased vehicles totaling approximately $2,400,000 under various Note and Security Agreements with 10% cash down payments and the
remaining $2,160,000 financed over 36 months at an interest rate of 4.89%. At December 31, 2019, the outstanding principal balance was approximately
$2,103,000.

 
In the third quarter of 2019, NextGear Capital approved a $250,000 vehicle floorplan line with an interest rate of 10% and principal payments due at 60 and
90 days and final payoff due at 120 days or upon vehicle sale. At December 31, 2019, the outstanding principal balance was approximately $60,000. The
outstanding principal balance was repaid in January 2020.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in Regulation S-K Item 303(a)(4).
 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

 
As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this item.
 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
 
The financial statements and supplementary data required by this item are included after Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1.
 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
 
None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
As required by Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation,
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange
Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship
of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019, our Chief Executive Officer
and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of the
company’s registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public
companies.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2019 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
 
Inherent Limitations of Disclosure Controls and Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 
Because of their inherent limitations, our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent material errors
or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control
system are met. The effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting is subject to risks, including that
the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with our policies or procedures may deteriorate.
 
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
 
None.
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PART III

 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
 
Management
 
Set forth below is information regarding our directors and executive officers as of the date of this annual report to the Form 10-K.
 
Name  Age  Title
Executive Officers     
Samer Tawfik  54  President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors
Bryan Silverstein  36  Chief Financial Officer
Non-Employee Directors     
William “Billy” Cohen  62  Lead Independent Director
Robert “Bob” J. Morris, Jr.  72  Director
Elias Nader  55  Director
Keith M. Locker  58  Director
 
Executive Officers
 
Samer “Sam” Tawfik is the founder of LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and has served as our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the board
of directors since January 2018. Prior to the founding of LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc., Mr. Tawfik was the founder and Chief Executive Officer of Telco
Group, Inc. which was acquired by Leucadia National Corp. in 2007 with a valuation of $160,000,000. Mr. Tawfik also founded and was Chief Executive
Officer of PT-1 Communications, Inc. which was acquired by Star Telecommunications Inc. in 1998 with a valuation of $590,000,000. From February 1999
through March 2000, Mr. Tawfik served as a Director of Star Telecommunications, Inc. Mr. Tawfik has extensive experience in technology, finance, banking
and statistical science. Awards given to Mr. Tawfik and his prior companies include, Top 10 technology & communications CEO in the U.S., number 1 on
Inc. 500’s fastest growing company list in the U.S. for two consecutive years, largest pre-paid Telecom company in the world, Consumer Reports’ best new
product of the year, JPM / KPMG Top 25 private employers, number 1 fastest growing in N.Y., 10th largest private company in N.Y., 4th largest international
and 8th largest long-distance telecom company in the U.S. behind AT&T, and many more.
 
We believe that Mr. Tawfik should continue to serve as a member of our board of directors due to his executive experience, and his financial, investment, and
management experience, which will provide the requisite qualifications, skills, perspectives, and experience that make him well qualified.
 
Bryan Silverstein joined our company in September 2018 as Controller and was appointed as Chief Financial Officer in November 2019. He has established
and maintained oversight of accounting processes, as well as assisted with operational development. From 2010 until joining LMP, Mr. Silverstein held a
number positions of increasing responsibility with Group 1 Automotive, a Fortune 300 automotive retailer. From 2010 to 2012, he was a part of the internal
audit team responsible for planning engagements, interviewing management, conducting fieldwork and presenting findings and recommendations to
management. From 2012 to 2015, he was responsible for financial analysis and reporting, real estate and construction accounting and mergers and
acquisitions due diligence. In 2015, he relocated from the corporate office in Houston, TX to Miami, FL to become the Dealership Controller of a recently
acquired, top dealership in the country. In 2006, Mr. Silverstein began his accounting career at the public accounting firm, Grant Thornton in the advisory
services group offering internal audit outsourcing, Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) audit support and other consulting services for clients across various industries
such as oil and gas, manufacturing, banking/financial services and property management. Mr. Silverstein is a graduate of Louisiana State University with a
Bachelor’s and Master’s in Accounting and is a Certified Public Accountant and Certified Internal Auditor.
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Non-Employee Directors
 
William “Billy” Cohen has served as a member of our board of directors and the Lead Independent Director since March 2018. He is the Chairman of the
Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. He is currently the Vice Chairman at Newmark Knight
Frank, a global commercial real estate advisory firm, and has been involved with commercial real estate acquisitions, conflict management, negotiation, fund
raising, tenant representation, owner representation, leasing advisory services, property and asset management, and corporate advisory services over the last
38 years. Mr. Cohen holds a B.A. in Finance from the University of Miami.
 
We believe that Mr. Cohen should continue to serve as a member of our board of directors due to his executive experience, management experience and
substantive experience working with companies in the real estate industry which will provide the requisite qualifications, skills, perspectives, and experience
that make him well qualified.
 
Robert “Bob” J. Morris, Jr. has served as a member of our board of directors since May 2019. He is currently Director of The Southeast region for the Tim
Lamb Group and Former Chairman of the Pontiac-GMC National Dealer Council. Mr. Morris has represented AutoNation, Hendrick Automotive Group,
AMSI (Terry Taylor) and many others in buy-sell transactions of franchised dealerships. Mr. Morris brings over three decades of retail automotive experience
that encompasses franchise dealer acquisitions and operations, pre-owned dealer operations, as well as leasing, finance and sales expertise. We believe that
Mr. Morris should continue to serve as a member of our board of directors because he brings the necessary leadership experience to the LMP Board of
Directors. Prior to joining the Tim Lamb Group, he led and owned franchise dealerships for over two decades and always exceeded factory goals.
 
Elias Nader has served as a member of our board of directors since May 2019. Mr. Nader has over 25 years of experience in Finance and Accounting. He is a
versatile, high-energy finance executive who leads companies through change and challenge to profitable growth. He is skilled in negotiating partnerships and
alliances with a keen ability to forecast industry trends and capture opportunities as well as experienced in transforming and growing technology start-ups to
global businesses. We believe that Mr. Nader should continue to serve as a member of our board of directors because Mr. Nader has built financially
sophisticated teams as well as ERP systems, creating transparent communication from the management level to the boardroom and shareholders. Prior to
joining LMP’s Board, Mr. Nader was the interim President and CEO of Sigma Designs, Inc., a Nasdaq-listed Company, as well as its Chief Financial Officer.
He has also served as a Board Member of the company from 2012 to 2019. Mr. Nader also serves as an Advisory Board member of Bottles Waiting, a private
company, and served as an Audit Committee Member of the Board of Directors of YuMe, Inc., a Nasdaq-listed company from 2016 to 2018. Prior to that, Mr.
Nader was the Chief Financial Officer for Imperial Holding, based in Europe and the Middle East, and held numerous senior executive roles in a number of
Fortune 500 public companies. Mr. Nader is a graduate of San Jose State University.
 
Keith M. Locker has served as a member of our board of directors since December 2019. He currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer and President of
Inlet Capital Management LLC and serves as the President of Global Capital Resources, LLC and GCR Advisors Inc. Mr. Locker’s responsibilities include
overseeing all real estate capital markets activities. Mr. Locker’s prior investment banking experience includes Bear, Stearns & Co. Inc., as a Senior
Managing Director, and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., as a Managing Director. His previous public board of directors experience include Non-Executive
Chairman at Sunstone Hotel Investors, Inc. from 2011 to 2015 and as its Independent Director from 2006 until 2017, as well as an Independent Director of
New York REIT, Inc., The Mills Corporation and Glenborough Realty Trust Inc. He also served as a Director of IVP Securities, LLC. Mr. Locker is a Trustee
of National Jewish Health and Governing Trustee of Urban Land Institute and active in numerous philanthropic and community organizations. He earned an
M.B.A. in Finance and Real Estate from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania and a B.S./B.A. in Finance from Boston University School of
Management.
 
Audit Committee
 
We have a separately designated standing audit committee of our board of directors, as defined in Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act. The audit
committee is currently comprised of three of our independent directors: Messrs. Cohen, Locker, and Nader. Mr. Cohen is the Chair of our audit committee.
Our board of directors has determined that each of the members of our audit committee is “independent” within the meaning of Nasdaq Listing Rules and the
SEC, and that each of the members of our audit committee is financially literate and has accounting or related financial management expertise, as such
qualifications are defined under Nasdaq Listing Rules. In addition, our board of directors has determined that Mr. Cohen is an “audit committee financial
expert,” as defined by the SEC. Our audit committee operates under a written charter that was adopted in 2018. A copy of the charter may be found on our
website at www.lmpmotors.com and will be provided in print, free of charge, to any stockholder who requests a copy by submitting a written request to our
Secretary at LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc., 601 N. State Road 7, Plantation, Florida, 33317.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
 
Summary Compensation Table
 
The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned during 2019 and 2018 by our principal executive officer and our other most highly
compensated executive officers, or the named executive officers, as of the end of the 2019 fiscal year.
  

Name and Principal Position  Year   
Salary 

($)   
Bonus 

($)   

Stock 
Awards 

($)(1)   

Option
Awards 

($)(1)   

All Other
Compensation

($)   
Total 

($)  
Samer Tawfik, Chairman,  2019  $ 120,000  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 120,000 
President and CEO  2018  $ 120,000  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 120,000 
                            
Bryan Silverstein, CFO  2019  $ 125,000  $ 36,000  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 161,000 
  2018(2) $ 39,450  $ 12,000  $ -  $ 35,280  $ -  $ 86,730 
                            
William Cohen  2019  $ 24,000  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 24,000 
Board of Directors  2018  $ 20,000  $ -  $ -  $ 63,650  $ -  $ 83,650 
                            
Bob Morris  2019(3) $ 16,000  $ -  $ -  $ 39,000  $ -  $ 55,000 
Board of Directors  2018  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 
                            
Elias Nader  2019(3) $ 16,000  $ -  $ -  $ 39,000  $ -  $ 55,000 
Board of Directors  2018  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 
                            
Keith Locker  2019(3) $ -  $ -  $ -  $ 95,520  $ -  $ 95,520 
Board of Directors  2018  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - 
 
(1) Represents the aggregate grant date fair value of the award computed in accordance with the provisions of FASB ASC Topic 718. The assumptions used

in calculating the aggregate grant date fair value of the awards reported in this column are set forth in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements
included in this annual report to Form 10-K.

 
(2) Mr. Silverstein began his employment with our company in September 2018.
 
(3) Messrs. Morris, Nader, and Locker joined the Board of Directors in 2019.
 
Narrative Disclosures Regarding Compensation; Employment Agreements
 
Samer Tawfik Employment Agreement
 
On February 20, 2018, our wholly owned subsidiary, LMPMotors.com, LLC, and our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Samer Tawfik,
entered into an employment agreement, or the Tawfik agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Tawfik shall serve as Chief Executive Officer of LMPMotors.com,
LLC. Pursuant to the Tawfik agreement, his annual salary is equal to one hundred and twenty thousand dollars ($120,000).
 
Bryan Silverstein Employment Agreement
 
On August 31, 2018, our wholly owned subsidiary, LMPMotors.com, LLC, and our Chief Financial Officer, Bryan Silverstein, entered into an employment
agreement, or the Silverstein agreement, pursuant to which Mr. Silverstein’s annual salary is equal to one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars
($125,000).
 
As part of its designated duties, our Compensation Committee plans to review the salaries and option grants to our executive officers with a third-party
compensation consultant.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.
 
The following table sets forth information as of January 27, 2020, regarding beneficial ownership of our capital stock by:
 

● each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of any class of our voting securities;
 

● each of our directors;
 

● each of our named executive officers; and
 

● all of our current executive officers and directors as a group.
 
The table lists applicable percentage ownership based on 8,691,323 shares of common stock outstanding as of January 27, 2020. Options to purchase shares
of our common stock that are exercisable within 60 days of January 27, 2020, are deemed to be beneficially owned by the persons holding these options for
the purpose of computing percentage ownership of that person, but are not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing any other person’s ownership
percentage
 
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities.
Except as noted by footnote, and subject to community property laws where applicable, we believe, based on the information provided to us, that the persons
and entities named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as beneficially owned by
them.
 
Except as otherwise noted below, the address for each person or entity listed in the table is c/o LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc., 601 N. State Rd, 7,
Plantation, Florida 33317.
 

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner  

Number of
Shares of

Common Stock
Beneficially

Owned   

Percentage of
Shares of

Common Stock
Beneficially
Owned (1)  

5% or Greater Stockholders       
Samer Tawfik, President, CEO, and Chairman of the Board of Directors (2)   3,785,037   43.55%
Directors and Named Officers         
William “Billy” Cohen (3)   222,150   2.56%
Robert “Bob” J. Morris, Jr. (4)   20,000   * 
Elias Nader (5)   5,000   * 
Keith M. Locker (6)   5,000   * 
Bryan Silverstein (7)   8,000   * 
All directors and executive officers as a group (two individuals)   4,045,187   46.54%
 
* Less than 1%
(1) Based on 8,691,323 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of January 22, 2020.
(2) The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Tawfik incorporates the cancellation, for no consideration, of 18,500,000 shares previously beneficially

owned by Mr. Tawfik.
(3) The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Cohen includes: (i) 150,150 shares of common stock purchased in a private placement offering, (ii)

20,000 shares of common stock that Mr. Cohen can acquire within 60 days of the date hereof upon exercise of options issued pursuant to the 2018 Plan at
$3.33 per share, (iii) 12,000 shares of common stock that may be acquired by Mr. Cohen within 60 days of the date hereof upon the exercise of options
issued pursuant to the 2018 Plan at $4.75 per share and (iv) 40,000 shares of common stock purchased for $5.00 per share in our initial public offering.
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(4) The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Morris includes 20,000 shares of common stock purchased for $5.00 per share in our initial public

offering.
(5) The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Nader includes 5,000 shares of common stock purchased for $5.00 per share in our initial public

offering.
(6) The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Locker includes 5,000 shares of common stock purchased in a private placement offering.
(7) The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Silverstein includes 8,000 shares of common stock that may be acquired by Mr. Silverstein within 60

days of the date hereof upon the exercise of options issued pursuant to the 2018 Plan at $4.75 per share.
 
The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Tawfik includes: (i) 15,750,000 shares of common stock issued pursuant to the reorganization and (ii)
5,250,000 shares of common stock issued pursuant to the reorganization to ST RXR Investments, LLC, a company wholly owned and controlled by
Mr. Tawfik. The number of shares beneficially owned by Mr. Tawfik also incorporates the cancellation, for no consideration, of 18,500,000 shares previously
beneficially owned by Mr. Tawfik, IPO shares purchased.
 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan
 
We have reserved one million five hundred thousand (1,500,000) shares of our common stock for issuance under the 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2018
Plan. Participation in the 2018 Plan will continue until all of the benefits to which the participants are entitled have been paid in full. As of December 31,
2019, 711,000 options have been granted with a weighted average exercise price of $4.57, with 789,000 options remaining available to issue.
 
Description of Awards under the 2018 Plan
 
Awards to Company Employees.    Under the 2018 Plan, the compensation committee, or the committee, which will administer the plan, may award to eligible
employees incentive and nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance units and performance
shares.
 
Awards to Non-Employees.    The Committee may award to non-employees, including non-employee directors, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation
rights, or SARs, restricted stock and restricted stock units.
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
 
The following includes a summary of transactions since January 1, 2018 to which we have been a party, in which the amount involved in the transaction
exceeded 1% of the average of our total assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and in which any of our directors, executive officers or, to our knowledge,
beneficial owners of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities or any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons had or will
have a direct or indirect material interest, other than equity and other compensation, termination, change in control and other arrangements, which are
described under “Executive Compensation.” 
 
Lease Agreement with ST RXR Investment, Inc.
 
On February 1, 2018, our wholly owned subsidiary, LMPMotors.com, LLC, entered into a lease agreement with ST RXR, or the ST RXR lease agreement,
for our principal executive office located in Plantation, Florida. Pursuant to the ST RXR lease agreement, the term of the lease will run from March 1, 2018 to
March 1, 2023, with an option to extend the lease for one additional five (5) year period, at a rental amount equal to $28,500 per month, subject to increase, as
fully disclosed in the ST RXR lease agreement. Under the terms of the ST RXR lease agreement, the rental amount shall increase each year by an amount
equal to three percent (3%) over the previous year on the 1st day. Our Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Samer Tawfik, owns all membership
interests of, and is sole manager of ST RXR. We believe the terms of the ST RXR lease agreement are similar to lease terms the Company would have
obtained in an arm’s-length transaction not involving Company related parties.
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Line of Credit Agreement with ST RXR
 
In January 2018, we entered into the $1,500,000 revolving credit facility with ST RXR pursuant to the LOC agreement. Under the LOC agreement, the
revolving credit facility shall mature on the earlier of written demand by the lender or May 21, 2020. In September 2019, we increased the credit line under
the revolving credit facility to $4,000,000. In December 2019, the outstanding balance on the LOC was paid in full.
 
Financing Activities
 
During the year ended December 31, 2017, we received cash of $1,091,500 from the issuance of notes payable to certain related parties. In addition, we
received $3,637,255 from contributions of capital from Mr. Tawfik. The capital contributions made by Mr. Tawfik are not debt, and Mr. Tawfik did not
receive any additional equity in connection with his contributions. Accordingly, we are not obligated to repay Mr. Tawfik the amounts contributed or any
interest on his contribution.
 
Share Cancellation
 
In July 2019, the Company cancelled, for no consideration, 18,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock previously beneficially owned by Samer
Tawfik, the Company’s founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The cancellation was done in order to provide existing and future investors with a
better value proposition. By reducing the total number of outstanding shares of common stock, the per-share value of investors’ shares of common stock
increased, calculated by dividing our equity value by the aggregate number of outstanding shares of common stock. Mr. Tawfik remains confident in our
prospects under his leadership and intends to continue to allocate and invest a portion of his capital in our stock as a result of such confidence.
 
Director Independence
 
Our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Capital Market. Under the listing requirements and rules of The NASDAQ Capital Market, independent
directors must constitute a majority of a listed company’s board of directors within 12 months after its IPO. In addition, the rules of The Nasdaq Capital
Market require that, subject to specified exceptions and phase-in periods following its IPO, each member of a listed company’s audit, compensation and
nominating and governance committee be independent, and that a listed company’s audit committee must have at least three members and a listed company’s
compensation committee must have at least two members. Under the rules of The NASDAQ Capital Market, a director will only qualify as an “independent
director” if, in the opinion of that company’s board of directors, that person does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent
judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.
 
We intend to rely on the phase-in rules of The NASDAQ Capital Market with respect to the independence of our board of directors and the audit committee.
In accordance with these phase-in provisions, our board of directors and the audit, compensation, and nominating and corporate governance committees have
at least two independent members, and all members will be independent within one year of the effective date of the registration statement relating to the
recently completed IPO of our common stock.
 
Audit committee members must also satisfy independence criteria set forth in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act, or Rule 10A-3. To be considered to be
independent for purposes of Rule 10A-3, a member of an audit committee of a listed company may not, other than in his or her capacity as a member of a
company’s audit committee, the company’s board of directors or any other board committee: (1) accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, advisory, or
other compensatory fee from the listed company or any of its subsidiaries; or (2) be an affiliated person of the listed company or any of its subsidiaries.
 
Our board of directors has undertaken a review of its composition, the composition of its committees and the independence of each director. Based upon
information requested from and provided by each director concerning his or her background, employment and affiliations, including family relationships, our
board of directors has determined that other than Samer Tawfik, our President and CEO who serves on the board of directors as the Chairman, each of our
directors does not have a relationship that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director and that
each of these directors is “independent” as that term is defined under the applicable rules and regulations of the listing requirements and rules of The Nasdaq
Capital Market and under the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC. In making this determination, our board of directors considered the current and
prior relationships that each non-employee director has with us and all other facts and circumstances our board of directors deemed relevant in determining
their independence, including the beneficial ownership of our capital stock by each non-employee director.
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Committee Membership
 
Our board of directors has established four standing committees — audit, compensation, nominating and corporate governance and acquisitions and finance
— each of which operates under a charter that has been approved by our board of directors. We have appointed persons to the board of directors and
committees of the board of directors as required to satisfy the corporate governance requirements of Nasdaq.
 
Our board of directors has determined that Messrs. Cohen, Locker, Morris and Nader are “independent” within the meaning of Nasdaq Listing Rules and the
SEC. Our independent directors have designated Mr. Cohen as our lead independent director. The lead independent director coordinates the activities of our
other independent directors. The members of the audit committee are Messrs. Cohen, Locker and Nader. The members of the compensation committee and
nominating and governance committee are Messrs. Cohen, Morris and Nader. The members of the acquisitions and finance committee are Messrs. Tawfik,
Cohen and Locker.
 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.
 
The following table sets forth the fees billed by Grassi & Co., CPAs, P.C., for audit, audit-related, tax, and all other services rendered for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 
  2019   2018  
Audit fees  $ 166,746  $ 117,266 
Audit-related fees   79,608   89,741 
Tax fees   20,961   9,563 
Other fees   -   50,519 
Total fees   267,315   267,089
 

Audit Fees.    Audit fees consist of fees billed for the audit of our annual consolidated financial statements and the review of the interim consolidated
financial statements.

 
Audit-Related Fees.    Audit-related fees consist of services that are normally provided in connection with registration statements, including the

registration statement for our IPO.
 
Tax Fees.    Tax fees consist of aggregate fees for tax compliance and tax advice, including the review and preparation of our various jurisdictions’

income tax returns.
 
Other Fees.    Other fees consist of consulting services associated with potential acquisition identification.
 
The audit committee pre-approved all services performed.
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PART IV
 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
 

(a)(1)Financial statements.
 

The financial statements and supplementary data required by this item begin on page F-1.
 

(a)(2)Financial Statement Schedules.
 

All schedules are omitted because the required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in the financial statements and the related
notes.

 

(a)(3)Exhibits.
 

Exhibit No.  Exhibit Description
3.1  Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
3.2  Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
4.2  Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3,

2019).
4.3  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3,

2019).
10.1  Employment Agreement, dated as of February 20, 2018 by and between LMPMotors.com and Samer Tawfik (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.2  2018 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.3  Lease Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2018, by and between LMPMotors.com and ST RXR Investments, LLC (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.4  Revolving Line of Credit Agreement, dated July 25, 2018, by and between LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and ST RXR Investments, LLC

(as amended on May 21, 2019) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.5  Lease Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2018, by and between 615 5th Street, Corp. and LMP Finance LLC d/b/a LMP Rentals Delaware

Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.6  Engagement Letter, dated as of April 25, 2018, by and between LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and Daszkal Bolton, LLP (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.7  Mercedes-Benz Financial Services Finance Commitment, dated as of April 25, 2019 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the

registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.8  Revolving Line of Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2019 by and between ST RXR Investments, LLC and LMP Automotive

Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.9  Demand Promissory Note and Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2019 by and between LMP Motors.com, LLC and

NextGear Capital, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
10.10  Employment Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2018, by and between LMP Motors.com, LLC and Bryan Silverstein.*
10.11  Warrant Agreement, dated December 9, 2019, by and between LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and Fordham Financial Management, Inc.

(the “Representative”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K filed on December 10, 2019)**
10.12  Form of Representative’s Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on February 5, 2020).
10.13  Warrant Agreement, dated February 13, 2020, by and between LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and the Representative (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K filed on February 13, 2020)***
10.14  Form of Representative’s Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Amendment No. 4 to Form S-1 filed on

October 25, 2019)
21.1  List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the registrant’s Form S-1 filed on December 3, 2019).
31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended.*
31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended.*
32.1  Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief Executive

Officer).*
32.2  Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Chief Financial

Officer).*
 

* Filed herewith.
** The Representative’s Warrant issued by the Company to each of the entities and individuals set forth on Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K filed on

December 10, 2019, all of whom are affiliates of the Representative, are substantially identical in all material respects to the Representative’s Warrants
issued to Fordham Financial Management, Inc. on December 10, 2019 and filed as an exhibit to such Form 8-K, except as to the recipient of such
warrants and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants. Pursuant to Instruction 2 to Item 601 of Regulation S-K,
we have omitted filing copies of such warrants as exhibits and have filed a schedule as Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K filed on December 10,
2019 identifying the other warrants omitted and setting forth the material details in which such warrants differ from the warrant incorporated by reference
herein.

*** The Representative’s Warrant issued by the Company to each of the entities and individuals set forth on Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K filed on
February 13, 2020, all of whom are affiliates of the Representative, are substantially identical in all material respects to the Representative’s Warrants
issued to Fordham Financial Management, Inc. on February 13, 2020 and filed as an exhibit to such Form 8-K, except as to the recipient of such warrants
and the number of shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of such warrants. Pursuant to Instruction 2 to Item 601 of Regulation S-K, we have
omitted filing copies of such warrants as exhibits and have filed a schedule as Exhibit 99.1 to the registrant’s Form 8-K filed on February 13, 2020
identifying the other warrants omitted and setting forth the material details in which such warrants differ from the warrant incorporated by reference
herein.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this annual report on
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
Date: February 25, 2020 LMP AUTOMOTIVE HOLDINGS, INC.
  
 By: /s/ Samer Tawfik
  Samer Tawfik
  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc.
 
Opinion on the Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to
as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required
to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
 
/s/ Grassi & Co., CPAs, P.C.  
  
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2018.
  
Jericho, New York  
February 25, 2020  
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LMP AUTOMOTIVE HOLDINGS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
 

  
December 31,

2019   
December 31,

2018  
       
ASSETS:         

Cash  $ 6,508,055  $ 424,152 
Accounts receivable   54,044   286,982 
Automotive inventory, net   10,035,903   11,558,160 
Net investment in sales-type lease   800,761   - 
Other current assets   830,533   380,712 

Total current assets   18,229,296   12,650,006 
         
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net   509,355   539,475 
Intangible assets   69,327   39,997 
Deferred offering costs   -   987,093 
Right-of-use asset   1,100,271   - 
         
TOTAL ASSETS  $ 19,908,249  $ 14,216,571 

         
LIABILITIES:         

Accounts payable  $ 112,840  $ 934,409 
Line of credit - related party   -   1,775,000 
Vehicle floorplan and notes payable   2,164,424   - 
Convertible notes payable and accrued interest   -   1,184,707 
Other current liabilities   653,063   568,358 
Operating lease liability, current portion   335,338   - 

Total current liabilities   3,265,665   4,462,474 
         
Operating lease liability, net of current portion   795,147   - 
         
Total liabilities   4,060,812   4,462,474 
         
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES         
         
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY:         

Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized, nil shares issued and outstanding   -   - 
Common stock, $0.00001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 8,691,323 and 24,645,294 shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively   87   246 
Additional paid-in capital   27,106,058   16,306,737 
Treasury stock, 138,600 shares, at cost   (658,350)   - 
Accumulated deficit   (10,600,358)   (6,552,886)

Total shareholders’ equity   15,847,437   9,754,097 
         
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 19,908,249  $ 14,216,571 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LMP AUTOMOTIVE HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

 
  2019   2018  
       
Revenues:       

Vehicle sales  $ 9,111,513  $ 15,714,511 
Subscription fees   1,389,679   356,323 
Rental revenues   351,885   539,952 
Interest revenue – sales-type leases   5,517   - 

Total revenues   10,858,594   16,610,786 
         
Cost of revenues:         

Vehicle sales   9,719,713   17,678,387 
Subscription and rental   1,285,907   889,388 

Total cost of revenues   11,005,620   18,567,775 
         
Gross loss   (147,026)   (1,956,989)
         
Selling, general and administrative expenses   2,878,988   3,278,051 
Share-based compensation   111,623   455,649 
Acquisition, consulting and legal expenses   761,813   722,722 
Depreciation and amortization expense - property, equipment, leasehold improvements, and intangibles   95,764   45,505 
         
Loss from operations   (3,995,214)   (6,458,916)
         
Other expenses:         

Interest   (34,637)   (31,377)
         
Net loss  $ (4,029,851)  $ (6,490,293)

         
Net loss per share attributable to shareholders, basic and diluted  $ (0.24)  $ (0.27)

         
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding, basic and diluted   16,577,106   23,764,021 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LMP AUTOMOTIVE HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

 

  

Common
Shares

Outstanding   
Preferred

Stock   
Common

Stock   

Additional
Paid-In
Capital   

Treasury
Stock   

Accumulated
Deficit   Total  

Balance at December 31, 2017   21,000,000  $ -  $ 210  $ 2,594,590  $ -  $ (62,593)  $ 2,532,207 
Issuance of stock for cash   3,645,294   -   36   13,256,498   -   -   13,256,534 
Share-based compensation   -   -   -   455,649   -   -   455,649 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (6,490,293)   (6,490,293)
Balance at December 31, 2018   24,645,294  $ -  $ 246  $16,306,737  $ -  $ (6,552,886)  $ 9,754,097 
Common stock repurchased   (143,655)   -   -   (20,430)   (658,350)   -   (678,780)
Common stock contributed and retired   (18,500,000)   -   (185)   185   -   -   - 
Share-based compensation   -   -   -   111,623   -   -   111,623 
Issuance of stock for cash, net   2,645,000   -   26   10,495,694   -   -   10,495,720 
Debt converted to stock   44,684   -   -   212,249   -   -   212,249 
Net loss   -   -   -   -   -   (4,029,851)   (4,029,851)
Impact of adoption of ASU 2016-02 related to

leases   -   -   -   -   -   (17,621)   (17,621)
Balance at December 31, 2019   8,691,323  $ -  $ 87  $27,106,058  $ (658,350)  $ (10,600,358)   15,847,437 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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LMP AUTOMOTIVE HOLDINGS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018

 
  2019   2018  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES       
Net loss  $ (4,029,851)  $ (6,490,293)
Adjustment to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization   1,086,556   683,584 
Share-based compensation   111,623   455,649 
Loss on disposal   60,368   - 
Principal collections on investments in sales-type lease contracts   180,036   - 
Amortization of operating lease expense   12,593   - 

(Increase) Decrease in assets:         
Accounts receivable   232,938   (201,131)
Vehicles purchased for investment in sales-type lease contracts   (980,797)   - 
Automotive inventory   531,465   (8,500,797)
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (449,821)   (309,712)

(Decrease) Increase in liabilities:         
Accounts payable   (821,569)   334,495 
Other current liabilities   84,705   556,063 

         
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES   (3,981,754)   (13,472,142)

         
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES         

Purchases of property and equipment   (144,704)   (392,684)
Proceeds from sale of assets   43,865   - 
Purchases of intangible assets   (54,503)   (45,273)

         
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (155,342)   (437,957)

         
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES         

Cash received from line of credit – related parties   3,200,000   1,775,000 
Principal reduction on line of credit – related parties   (4,975,000)   - 
Principal repayment of notes and advances payable – related parties   -   (1,091,500)
Cash received from convertible notes payable   -   1,448,965 
Principal and interest repayments on convertible notes payable   (972,458)   (285,015)
Vehicle floorplan and notes payable   2,164,424   - 
Repurchase of common stock   (678,780)   - 
Net cash received from issuance of common stock   10,495,720   13,256,534 
Deferred stock offering costs   987,093   (987,093)

         
NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES   10,220,999   14,116,891 
         
NET INCREASE IN CASH   6,083,903   206,792 

         
CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR   424,152   217,360 

         
CASH, END OF YEAR  $ 6,508,055  $ 424,152 

         
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION         

Cash paid during the year for interest  $ 44,333  $ 10,545 
Issuance of stock converted from debt  $ 212,249  $ - 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation
 

Business Activity
 

LMP Motors.com, LLC (“LMP Motors”) is engaged in the buying and selling of vehicles in the automotive industry and operates in the state of
Florida. LMP Motors is a limited liability company and was organized in the state of Delaware.
 
601 NSR, LLC (“NSR”) was formed to enter into future potential strategic acquisitions and is currently inactive. NSR is a limited liability company
and was organized in the state of Delaware.
 
LMP Finance, LLC (“LMP Finance”) is engaged in the purchasing, subscribing and renting of vehicles. LMP Finance operates in the state of
Florida. LMP Finance is a limited liability company and was organized in the state of Delaware.
 
LMP Automotive Holdings, LLC (“LMP Automotive”) was formed to acquire the assets from LMP Motors.com LLC, LMP Finance, LLC and
other subsidiary companies. LMP Automotive operates in the state of Florida. LMP Automotive is a limited liability company and was organized in
the state of Delaware.
 
LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. (“Automotive”) is a holding company incorporated in the state of Delaware on December 15, 2017. On December
15, 2017, the common ownership contributed 100% of its interest in LMP Motors, NSR, LMP Finance and LMP Automotive to Automotive.
 
Principles of Consolidation
 
These consolidated financial statements include the amounts of Automotive and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, LMP Motors, NSR, LMP Finance,
and LMP Automotive, collectively referred to as the “Company.” All significant intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in the
consolidation.
 

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Liquidity
 
The Company has sustained net losses and an accumulated deficit of $(10,600,358) to date. Management plans to make strategic acquisitions of
new and pre-owned automobile dealerships to expedite the Company’s growth and produce positive margins.  The Company completed an initial
public offering (“IPO”) during December 2019, and raised capital during 2018 through private placement offerings and convertible debt securities
to help facilitate business growth and execute its management’s plans to become profitable through acquisitions.  Management plans to continue
obtaining funding through 2020 for vehicle purchases and dealership acquisitions, and in February 2020, the Company completed a secondary
public offering, selling 1,200,000 shares of common stock at an offering price of $16.00 per share, and warrants to purchase shares of common
stock. Aggregate gross proceeds from the offering were approximately $19.2 million, and net proceeds received after underwriting fees and offering
expenses were approximately $17.5 million. 
 
Basis of Presentation

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”).
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d.)

 
Accounts Receivable
 
The Company carries its accounts receivable at cost. Accounts receivable are due upon receipt. Such estimates are based on management’s
assessments of the creditworthiness of its customers, the aged basis of its receivables, as well as current economic conditions and historical
information. Management has determined that no allowance for uncollectible accounts for accounts receivable is necessary at December 31, 2019
and 2018.

 
Inventory
 
The Company’s inventory consists of automobiles. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined by specific
identification and with market defined as net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business,
less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. Inventories at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are recorded based on
perpetual inventory records.
 
The Company depreciates its fleet inventory monthly based on 1% of initial cost starting in 2018 when the subscriptions and rentals were launched.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, fleet vehicle depreciation approximated $991,000 and $640,000, respectively. This depreciation
was recorded to Cost of revenues - subscription and rental.

 
Company management periodically reviews its inventories to determine whether any inventories have declined in value. The Company wrote down
approximately $49,000 and $530,000 of inventory to its net realizable value at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. These write downs were
recorded to Cost of revenues - vehicle sales.
 

  
December 31,

2019   
December 31,

2018  
Automotive Inventory  $ 10,907,755  $ 12,270,478 
Inventory Impairment   (49,180)   (529,983)
Inventory Accumulated Depreciation   (822,672)   (478,718)
Inventory In-transit Deposits   -   296,383 
Total Automotive Inventory, net  $ 10,035,903  $ 11,558,160 

 

  
December 31,

2019   
December 31,

2018  
Automotive Inventory- Fleet, net  $ 9,083,469  $ 10,338,802 
Automotive Inventory- Available for Sale, net   952,434   922,975 
Inventory In-transit Deposits   -   296,383 
Total Automotive Inventory, net  $ 10,035,903  $ 11,558,160 

 
Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements
 
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost. The costs of additions and betterments are capitalized and expenditures for
repairs and maintenance are expensed in the period incurred. When items included in property and equipment are sold or retired, the related costs
and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d.)

 
Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements (cont’d.)
 
Vehicles and equipment are depreciated utilizing the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets as follows:

 
Vehicles  5 years
Furniture and fixtures  10 years
Equipment  7 years

 
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or the useful life of the improvement utilizing the
straight-line method.
  
Intangible Assets
 
Intangible assets are stated at their historical cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives.
 
Long-lived Assets
 
The Company reviews long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles held and used for possible impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In evaluating the fair value and future benefits of its intangible
assets, management performs an analysis of the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flow of the individual assets over the remaining
amortization period. The Company recognizes an impairment loss if the carrying value of the asset exceeds the expected future cash flows. There
were no deemed impairments of long-lived assets at December 31, 2019 and 2018.

 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.  To increase the comparability of fair value measurements, a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes
the inputs used in the valuation methodologies, is as follows:
 
Level 1 - Valuations based on quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets.

 
Level 2 - Valuations based on observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data.
 
Level 3 - Valuations based on unobservable inputs reflecting the Company’s own assumptions, consistent with reasonably available assumptions
made by other market participants.  These valuations require significant judgment.

 
At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the fair value of these financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, net investment in sales-type
lease, and accounts payable, approximated book value due to the short maturity of these instruments. Vehicle floorplan and notes payable,
convertible notes and related party notes payable approximate fair value due to market interest rates.
 
Convertible Notes
 
The Company records a discount to convertible notes for the intrinsic value of conversion options embedded in debt instruments based upon the
differences between the fair value of the underlying common stock at the commitment date of the note transaction and the effective conversion price
embedded in the note. Debt discounts, if any, under these arrangements are amortized to noncash interest expense using the effective interest rate
method over the term of the related debt to their date of maturity. Based on the terms of the embedded conversion rights, the Company has not
recognized any discounts to date. At December 31, 2019, all convertible notes were repaid or converted to shares of common stock.
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d.)

 
Share-Based Compensation
 
The Company recognizes the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of stock options, based on the fair value of those awards at
the date of grant over the requisite service period, which generally is the vesting period of the award. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option
pricing model to determine the fair value of stock option awards.
 
In June 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2018-07, Improvements to
Share-Based Payment Accounting (Topic 718). This ASU was issued to simplify the accounting for share-based payments to nonemployees by
aligning much of the guidance on measurement and classification with the accounting for share-based payments to employees. The Company has
elected early adoption of this ASU in 2018 to conform the accounting for share-based compensation to employees and nonemployees.
 
Share-based compensation plans, related expenses, and assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model are more fully described in
Note 15.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). This ASU is the result of a joint project of
the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) to clarify the principles for recognizing revenue and to develop a common
revenue standard for U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and provides that an entity should recognize revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services.
 
The Company adopted FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), on January
1, 2018 using the modified retrospective method. ASC 606 prescribes a five-step model that includes: (1) identify the contract; (2) identify the
performance obligations; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (5) recognize
revenue when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied. The adoption of ASC 606 did not have a material impact on the amount or timing of the
revenue recognition, and the Company recognized no cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption.
 
Used Vehicle Sales Revenue
 
The Company’s business consists of retail and wholesale sales of used vehicles to customers. Sales are based on a physical showroom and efficient
online showrooms on the Company’s websites. The Company offers a home delivery service so that it delivers the car to the place agreed upon with
the client. The Company also sells used vehicles in auctions.
 
The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of a vehicle to a customer. The prices of the
vehicles are stated in its contracts at stand-alone selling prices, which are agreed upon with its customer prior to delivery. The Company satisfies its
performance obligation for used vehicle sales upon delivery when the transfer of title, risks and rewards of ownership and control pass to the
customer. The Company recognizes revenue at the agreed-upon price stated in the contract, including any delivery charges. In addition, any noncash
consideration received from a customer (i.e., trade-in vehicles) is recognized at fair value. Customer payment is received or third-party financing is
confirmed prior to vehicle transfer.
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d.)
 

Revenue Recognition (cont’d.)
 
The Company leases vehicles to third parties that are accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 842, Leases. These lease terms are short term in
nature and generally less than one year. The accounting for investments in leases and leased vehicles is different depending on the type of lease.
Each lease is classified as either a direct-financing lease, sales-type lease, or operating lease, as appropriate. If a lease meets one of the following
five criteria, the lease is classified as either a sales-type lease or direct financing lease; otherwise, it will be classified as an operating lease.
 
● The lease transfers ownership of the property to the lessee by the end of the lease term;

   
● The lease grants the lessee an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise;

 
● The lease term is for the major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset (at least 75%);

 
● The present value of the sum of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee that is not already reflected in the lease

payments equals or exceeds substantially all (90% or more) of the fair value of the underlying asset;
 

● The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term.
 
Revenue on direct financing and sales-type leases is recognized at the inception of the lease and the related interest income is recognized over the
term of the lease using the effective interest method. Revenues on the sales of vehicles at the end of a lease are recognized at the inception of the
lease, and any net gain or loss on sales of such vehicles is presented within Vehicle Sales Revenues and Vehicle Sales Cost of Revenues in the
consolidated statements of operations. Interest income is derived from the discounted cash flows of the lease payments. Investments in sales-type
leases are comprised of the minimum lease payments receivable and guaranteed residual at their present value.

 
The Company collects sales taxes and other taxes from customers on behalf of governmental authorities at the time of sale. These taxes are
accounted for on a net basis and are not included in sales or cost of sales.
 
Subscription Revenue
 
The Company offers a vehicle subscription plan where a customer will pay a monthly fee in exchange for access to a vehicle.  The Company’s
subscriptions include monthly swaps, scheduled maintenance and upkeep, license and registration and in most cases roadside assistance. Customers
have the flexibility to up-or-downgrade a vehicle monthly, with the vehicle payment adjusted accordingly.  There is an activation payment at
subscription inception that varies based upon the monthly payment of the selected vehicle.  Monthly vehicle payments are dependent upon the
vehicle selected by the customer. Due to the nature of the subscription contract, where the subscriber can swap out the vehicle in the contract and
the performance obligation is completed and recognized each month, the revenues earned under these contracts are recognized in accordance with
ASC 606.
 
The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of a vehicle to a customer under a subscription
contract. The prices of the vehicles are stated in its contracts at stand-alone subscription prices, which are agreed upon with the customer prior to
delivery. The Company satisfies its performance obligation for monthly subscription payments upon delivery to the customer and in each
subsequent month the customer retains possession of the vehicle. The Company recognizes revenue at the agreed-upon price stated in the contract in
the month earned.
 
The Company also receives a one-time, non-refundable payment as an activation fee to its vehicle subscription program. This fee is deferred and
amortized to income monthly over the term of the subscription, as the performance obligation (providing a vehicle for the customer) is completed
over the term of the subscription.

 
Customer payment has been received prior to initial vehicle transfer and on each monthly recurring anniversary date.
 
The Company collects sales taxes and other taxes from customers on behalf of governmental authorities at the time of sale. These taxes are
accounted for on a net basis and are not included in sales or cost of sales.
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d.)

 
Revenue Recognition (cont’d.)

 
Rental Revenue
 
The Company accounts for revenue earned from vehicle rentals and rental related activities wherein an identified asset is transferred to the customer
and the customer has the ability to control that asset under FASB ASC 842, Leases. Revenue from operating leases is recognized ratably on a
straight-line basis over the term of the agreement.
 
Performance obligations associated with rental related activities, such as charges to the customer for the fueling of vehicles and value-added
services such as loss damage waivers, navigation units, and other ancillary and optional products, are also satisfied over the rental period.
 
Payments are due from customers at the time of reservation. Additional charges incurred by the customers are collected at the time of vehicle return.
The Company collects sales taxes and other taxes from customers on behalf of governmental authorities at the time of sale. These taxes are
accounted for on a net basis and are not included in sales or cost of sales.
 
Income Taxes

 
Income tax expense includes federal and state taxes currently payable and deferred taxes arising from temporary differences between income for
financial reporting and income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial
statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the difference is expected to reverse. The effect
of a change in the tax rate on the deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. The
Company establishes a valuation allowance when necessary to reduce its deferred tax assets to an amount that is expected to be realized.
  
LMP Motors, NSR, LMP Finance, and LMP Automotive are limited liability companies, which are treated as partnerships for income tax purposes.
The income or loss and credits from limited liability companies are passed through to their members and reported on the members’ income tax
returns. As such, there is no provision for income taxes. If applicable, the Company would recognize interest and penalties associated with tax
matters as part of operating expenses and include accrued interest and penalties with the related tax liability in its consolidated financial statements.
There are no unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
 
Advertising
 
The Company expenses advertising and marketing costs in the period incurred. Advertising expense was approximately $124,000 and $266,200 for
the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
 
Leases
 
The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“Topic 842”), using the modified retrospective adoption method with an effective date of January
1, 2019. The consolidated financial statements for 2019 are presented under the new standard, while the comparative periods presented are not
adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with the Company’s historical accounting policy and Topic 840. This standard requires all
lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, initially measured at the present value of the lease payments.  
 
Under Topic 842, the Company applied a dual approach to all leases whereby the Company is a lessee and classifies leases as either finance or
operating leases based on the principle of whether or not the lease is effectively a financed purchase by the Company. Lease classification is
evaluated at the inception of the lease agreement. Regardless of classification, the Company records a right-of-use asset and a lease liability for all
leases with a term greater than 12 months. The lease for the premises occupied in Plantation, Florida, was classified as an operating lease as of
December 31, 2019. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d.)

 
Leases (cont’d.)
 
The adoption of the new lease standard had a significant impact on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, resulting in the recognition of $1.4 million of
right-of-use assets, $0.3 million of current lease liabilities, and $1.1 million of long-term lease liabilities in the first quarter of 2019. In addition, the
Company recognized an approximate $17,000 cumulative effect adjustment to accumulated deficit on the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’
Equity related to the unamortized deferred lease costs incurred in prior periods which do not meet the definition of initial direct costs under
Topic 842. The adoption of Topic 842 did not have a significant impact on the lease classification or a material impact on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations and liquidity.

 
The components of the right-of-use asset and lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:
 

Operating lease right-of-use asset  $ 1,100,271 
Operating lease liability, current portion  $ 335,338 
Operating lease liability, net of current portion  $ 795,147 

 
Operating Leases
 
During 2018, the Company entered into a lease with an entity related through common ownership for its facilities in Plantation, Florida. The five-
year, triple-net lease provides for monthly payments of $28,500 plus CAM and sales taxes, with annual escalations of three percent (3%). The
Company has an option to extend the lease for an additional five-year term, with annual escalations of three percent (3%). The option to extend the
lease is not recognized in the right-of-use asset or operating lease liability.
 
Discount Rate
 
When available, the Company uses the rate implicit in the lease or a borrowing rate based on similar debt to discount lease payments to present
value. However, the lease generally does not provide a readily determinable implicit rate, and the Company’s existing debt does not have similar
terms. Therefore, the Company used the 5-year Treasury constant maturity at the lease commencement date to discount lease payments.
 
Lease Cost
 
Operating lease cost related to right-of-use assets (Plantation, FL Lease) is approximately $387,000 and $285,000 for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively. The weighted average remaining term on the lease is 3.2 years. The weighted average discount rate is 2.63%.
 
As a lessor, leasing income is recognized as selling profit or loss included in Revenues - Vehicle Sales on the Statement of Operations at the
commencement of the lease for sales-type leases in which the vehicles are transferred to the lessee at the end of the lease. For leases that are
accounted for as operating leases, income is recognized on a straight-line basis when payments under the lease contract are due.
 

Note 3 - Concentration of Credit Risk
 
The Company maintains its cash balances in several financial institutions which are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”)
for up to $250,000 per institution. From time to time, its balances may exceed these limits.
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Note 4 - Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements

 
Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net are summarized as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Vehicles  $ 28,730  $ 91,547 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment   301,417   273,024 
Leasehold improvements   288,738   238,287 
Signage   -   4,777 
   618,885   607,635 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (109,530)   (68,160)
  $ 509,355  $ 539,475 

 
Depreciation and amortization expense related to property, equipment, leasehold improvements and intangibles amounted to $95,764 and $45,505
for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 

Note 5 - Investment in Leasing Operations
 

Investment in leasing operations consists of the following:
 

  
December 31,

2019   
December 31,

2018  
Sales-type leases:       

Minimum lease payments receivable  $ 157,542  $        - 
Unearned income   (47,114)   - 
Guaranteed residual value of vehicles   690,333   - 

Total investment in leasing operations  $ 800,761  $ - 

 
As of December 31, 2019, the total investment in sales-type leases is classified as short-term as all leases are due within one year of the balance
sheet date. There were no such leases at December 31, 2018.

 
The assets held under the investment are leased to one customer. A certain residual value of the vehicles is guaranteed by this customer, whether the
customer ultimately purchases the vehicle at the end of the lease term or not.
 

Note 6 - Related Party Transactions
 

The Company entered into debt agreements with a related party employee, with interest accruing at a rate of 9.0% per annum. At December 31,
2017, $50,000 was outstanding, which was repaid on February 15, 2018.

 
The Company entered into debt agreements with a shareholder, with interest accruing at a rate of 2% interest per annum. At December 31, 2017,
$1,019,000 was outstanding, which was repaid on February 15, 2018.
 
During 2018, the Company entered into a non-interest bearing revolving line of credit agreement with an entity related to the majority shareholder
(credit limit is $4,000,000). Amounts drawn on the line of credit become due and payable on the earlier of written demand by the lender or May 21,
2020, as defined in the agreement. At December 31, 2018, the outstanding amount was $1,775,000. The line of credit was paid in full in December
2019.
 
During 2018, the Company entered into a lease with an entity related through common ownership for its facilities in Plantation, Florida. The five-
year, triple-net lease provides for monthly payments of $28,500 plus CAM and sales taxes, with annual escalations of three percent (3%). The
Company has an option to extend the lease for an additional five-year term, with annual escalations of three percent (3%). The option to extend the
lease is not recognized in the right-of-use asset or operating lease liability.
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Note 7 - Convertible Notes Payable
 

During the second and third quarters of 2018, the Company issued convertible promissory notes (“6-Month Notes”) in an aggregate principal
amount of $1,448,965, pursuant to a private placement offering. The 6-Month Notes bear interest at 4% per annum and mature six (6) months from
the date of issuance, at which time the principal and any accrued but unpaid interest shall be due and payable. Accrued interest at December 31,
2019 and 2018 was $0 and $20,757, respectively. The holders of the 6-Month Notes may, at any time prior to the maturity date, convert the 6-Month
Notes (and accrued interest) into shares of the Company’s Common Stock by dividing (a) the outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued
interest under this Note on the date of conversion by (b) $4.75 (subject to adjustment as provided in the 6-Month Notes). Based on the terms of the
conversion rights, the Company did not recognize a beneficial conversion discount.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company repaid one of the 6-Month Notes in the principal amount of approximately $285,015,
leaving a balance of approximately $1,164,000, plus accrued interest, at December 31, 2018.
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company repaid eight of the 6-Month Notes in the principal amount of $962,000, and converted the
remaining seven 6-Month Notes with a principal and accrued interest of $212,249 to 44,684 shares of common stock.
 

Note 8 - Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities
 
Accounts payable and other current liabilities are summarized as follows:
 
Accounts Payable:
 

  December 31,  
   2019    2018  

Accounts Payable  $ 68,033  $ 884,927 
Credit Card Payable   44,807   28,424 
Vehicle Payable   -   21,058 
Total Accounts Payable  $ 112,840  $ 934,409 

 
Other Current Liabilities:
 

  December 31  
  2019   2018  

Accrued Payroll  $ 157,174  $ 137,041 
Customer Deposits - Leases   103,217   - 
Subscription Security Deposits   57,094   53,254 
Subscription Deferred Activation Fees   145,986   42,746 
Rental Deposits on Hand   3,463   30,930 
Vehicle Sales Deposits on Hand   -   6,000 
Property Tax Accrual   61,577   65,509 
Sales and Other Taxes Payable   42,483   27,284 
Other Accruals   82,069   205,594 
Total Other Current Liabilities  $ 653,063  $ 568,358 

 
Note 9 - Income Taxes

 
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
basis and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
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Note 9 - Income Taxes (cont’d.)

 
Deferred tax assets are required to be reduced by a valuation allowance to the extent that, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
 
Deferred Taxes
 
Components of income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Current tax expense (benefit)  $ -  $ - 
   -   - 
         
Deferred tax expense (benefit)  $ -  $ - 
   -   - 
         
Total provision for income taxes  $ -  $ - 

 
Temporary differences between financial statement carrying amount and tax basis of assets and liabilities that give rise to significant portions of the
deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Deferred tax assets:         

Net operating loss  $ 2,723,750  $ 1,944,504 
Intangible assets   21,853   16,176 
Other   12,465   134,324 
Stock options   109,372   - 

Total deferred income tax assets   2,867,440   2,095,004 
         
Deferred income tax liabilities:         

Depreciation   (7,633)   (78,621)
Total deferred income tax liabilities   (7,633)   (78,621)
         
Valuation allowance   (2,859,807)   (2,016,383)
         
Net deferred income tax asset  $ —  $ — 

 
The Company had a net operating loss carryforward of approximately $10,700,000 as of December 31, 2019. Net deferred tax assets are mainly
comprised of temporary differences between financial statement carrying amount and tax basis of assets and liabilities.
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Note 9 - Income Taxes (cont’d.)
 

Deferred Taxes (cont’d.)
 
FASB ASC 740 requires a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets reported if, based on the weight of the evidence, it is more likely
than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had a full valuation
allowance on its net deferred income tax asset.
 
In addition, the Company performed a comprehensive review of its uncertain tax positions and determined that no adjustments were necessary
relating to unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2019 and 2018. The Company’s federal and state income tax returns are subject to
examination by taxing authorities for three years after the returns are filed, and the Company’s federal and state income tax returns for 2018 and
2017 remain open to examination.
 
The reconciliation of income tax benefit is computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
       
U.S. federal statutory tax rate   21.00%  21.00%
Federal minimum taxes   0.00%  0.00%
Permanent differences   -0.29%  -0.04%
Change in effective rate   0.00%  0.00%
Change in valuation allowance   -20.93%  -31.07%
State tax effect, net of federal benefit   4.29%  4.34%
Prior tax adjustments   -4.07%  5.77%
Other items   0.00%  0.00%

Total   0.00%  0.00%

 
Note 10 -Lease Commitments

 
The annual minimum lease payments, including fixed rate escalations, on the Company’s operating lease liability with a related party under
common ownership in Plantation, FL as of December 31, 2019 are as follows:
 

Years Ending December 31:    
    

2020  $ 361,067 
2021   371,898 
2022   383,055 
2023   64,154 
Total minimum lease payments   1,180,174 

Less: amount representing interest   (49,689)
Present value of future payments   1,130,485 

Less: current obligations   (335,338)
Long-term obligations  $ 795,147 

 
Operating Leases
 
During 2018, the Company entered into a third-party lease for its Miami Beach, Florida operations. The one year lease provided for monthly
payments of $3,800, with a renewal option for an additional 12 months at $4,000 monthly. The lease expired April 30, 2019 and was not renewed.
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Note 10 -Lease Commitments (cont’d.)
 

During 2018, the Company entered into an agreement for the licensed right to use 201 garage parking spaces in Miami Beach, Florida. The 27-
month agreement provided for monthly payments of $140 per space ($28,140 per month total), with annual escalations of two percent (2%). In
April 2019, the Company terminated the license to use the parking spaces.
 
Rent expense charged to operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, inclusive of CAM and taxes, was approximately $562,300
and $732,500 respectively.

 
Note 11 - Vehicle Floorplan and Notes Payable
 

In the second quarter of 2019, Mercedes-Benz Financial approved $3.5 million for the Company’s subscription and rental fleet inventory purchases.
During 2019, the Company purchased vehicles totaling approximately $2,400,000 under various Note and Security Agreements with 10% cash
down payments and the remaining $2,160,000 financed over 36 months at an interest rate of 4.89%. At December 31, 2019, the outstanding
principal balance was approximately $2,103,000.

 
In the third quarter of 2019, NextGear Capital approved a $250,000 vehicle floorplan line with an interest rate of 10% and principal payments due at
60 and 90 days and final payoff due at 120 days or upon vehicle sale. At December 31, 2019, the outstanding principal balance was approximately
$60,000.
 

Note 12 -Contingencies
 

The Company is subject to asserted claims and liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company maintains third-party insurance
to mitigate potential losses from these actions. In the opinion of management, the amount of the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will
not materially affect the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
 

Note 13 -Equity
 

During February 2018, the Company commenced a private placement equity offering, pursuant to which it sold 2,858,030 shares of its Common
Stock at a price of $3.33 per share, for aggregate consideration of approximately $9,517,200.
 
During the second and third quarters of 2018, the Company commenced a private placement equity offering, pursuant to which it sold 787,264
shares of its Common Stock through September 30, 2018 at a price of $4.75 per share, for aggregate consideration of approximately $3,739,500.
 
During 2019, the Company’s CEO retired 18,500,000 beneficially owned common shares of stock for no value. In addition, four non-accredited
investors were refunded a total of $20,430, which cancelled 5,055 shares. Total outstanding common shares after the share retirement and refunds
were 6,001,639, prior to the IPO.
 
On December 9, 2019, the Company completed its IPO, selling 2,645,000 shares of common stock at an offering price of $5.00 per share, and
warrants to purchase shares of common stock. Aggregate gross proceeds from the IPO, which included the exercise in full of the representative’s
over-allotment option, were approximately $13.2 million, and net proceeds received after underwriting fees and offering expenses were
approximately $12 million. Total equity from the IPO after deducting deferred offering expenses of $1.5 million was approximately $10.5 million.
 
During 2019, the Company converted seven of its 6-Month Notes with a value of $212,249 to 44,684 shares of common stock.
 
Total common shares outstanding after the IPO and conversion of 6-Month Notes were 8,691,323.
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Note 14 -Treasury Stock

 
During 2019, the Company purchased an aggregate of 138,600 shares of its Common Stock from four (4) shareholders at an aggregate price of
$4.75 per share, or $658,350. These shares are currently held in treasury.
 

Note 15 -Stock Options
 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company granted stock options to purchase 598,500 shares of its Common Stock to various
employees, vendors and independent contractors. These options vest over periods ranging from twenty-four (24) to thirty-six (36) months, are
exercisable for a period of 5 years, and enable the holders to purchase shares of its Common Stock at exercise prices ranging from $3.33 - $4.75.
The per-share values of these options range from $1.37 to $1.96, based on Black-Scholes-Merton pricing models with the following assumptions: (i)
Volatility of 43.25%, (ii) Term of 5 years, (iii) Risk free rate of 2.6% and (iv) Dividend rate of 0.0%.
 
At December 31, 2019, the Company had $231,354 of unrecognized compensation costs related to stock options outstanding, which will be
recognized through 2023. The Company will recognize forfeitures as they occur. Share-based compensation expense was $111,623 and $455,649
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The total amount recorded in “Additional paid-in capital” related to stock options as
of December 31, 2019, was approximately $567,000. The weighted average remaining contractual term for the outstanding options at December 31,
2019 and 2018 is 3.54 and 4.22 years, respectively.
 
Stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, was as follows:
 

  
Number of

Shares   
Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price  

Outstanding at December 31, 2017   -  $ - 
Options granted   598,500   3.91 
Options exercised   -   - 
Options forfeited or expired   (87,500)   - 
Outstanding at December 31, 2018   511,000  $ 3.82 
Options granted   112,500   7.01 
Options exercised   -   - 
Options forfeited or expired   (279,000)   - 
Outstanding at December 31, 2019   344,500  $ 4.57 

Vested as of December 31, 2019   260,468  $ 3.80 
Expected to vest as of December 31, 2019   84,032  $ 6.96 
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Note 16 -Purchase Warrants

 
Common stock purchase warrant activity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

 

  
Number of
Warrants   

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price  

Outstanding at December 31, 2017   -  $ - 
Issued   -   - 
Cancelled   -   - 
Exercised   -   - 

Outstanding at December 31, 2018   -  $ - 
Issued   115,000   6.25 
Cancelled   -   - 
Exercised   -   - 

Outstanding at December 31, 2019   115,000  $ 6.25 

 
In connection with the Company’s IPO, the Company granted warrants to purchase 115,000 shares of its Common Stock at $6.25 per share to its
underwriters.
 

Note 17 -Net Loss per Share Attributable to Common Shareholders
 
The basic and diluted net loss per common share was the same for each period presented as the Company’s potentially dilutive shares would be
antidilutive.  The weighted average shares of Common Stock outstanding were 16,577,106 and 23,764,021 for the years ended December 31, 2019
and 2018, respectively.
 

Note 18 -Subsequent Events
 

In January 2020, the remaining NextGear Capital vehicle floorplan balance of approximately $60,000 was paid in full.
 

On February 10, 2020, a partial summary judgement was granted against the Company for alleged breach of its license agreement to use garage
parking spaces in Miami Beach, Florida which the Company terminated in April 2019. The current asserted losses by the plaintiff total
approximately $224,250, with a potential maximum exposure under the terminated agreement of approximately $580,450. The judge has ordered
the parties to further mediate the dispute.
 
On February 13, 2020, the company completed an underwritten public offering of 1,200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a public
offering price of $16.00 per share, raising gross proceeds of approximately $19.2 million and net proceeds received after underwriting fees and
offering expenses were approximately $17.5 million. The Company intends to use the proceeds from the offering for strategic acquisitions, to build
its vehicle inventory, for working capital and other general corporate purposes.
 
On February 19, 2020, the Company purchased approximately a $2.9 million luxury vehicle fleet and entered into a non-exclusive perpetual
software license for a vehicle subscription service app for upcoming launch in the Apple App and Google Play stores. Any enhancements to the
software will be the exclusive property of the Company. The Bancorp and Sutton Leasing have agreed to finance the vehicles. The Company paid
approximately $526,000 in cash and issued 33,183 shares of its common stock at $14.69 per share (the closing price of its common stock on
February 19, 2020) for the remainder of the transaction.
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Exhibit 10.10
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is effective as of August 31, 2018, and made and entered into by and between LMP
Motors.com, LLC, with principal offices at 601 North State Rd. 7 Plantation, 33317 at the State of Florida (“Employer” or “Company”) and Bryan
Silverstein, who has a residence at 7901 Hispanola ave, Apt 1907, North Bay Village, FL 33141 (“Employee”).
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS the Company is considered to be a Development Stage Enterprise and, along with current and future subsidiaries and affiliates, plans to
provide a best in class eCommerce solution for pre-owned automobile sales, purchasing, financing, leasing, and other transactions (the “Business”); and
 

WHEREAS the Employee possesses extensive experience in Business the Company intends to engage in; and
 

WHEREAS the Company desires to retain the Employee as Controller, to promote the interests of and perform services for the Company on the
terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, and the Employee desires to be retained on such terms and subject to such conditions;
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and mutual promises, covenants and agreements contained herein, and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby are acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

 
1. Employment and Exclusive Devotion of Business Time to Employment.
Subject to and pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, effective August 31, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), the Company shall employ the Employee in the
capacity of Controller reporting directly to the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO”) or his designee. Employee agrees to devote all of his/her
business time, effort, skills, loyalty and attention to the Business of the Company, and will not, during the term of this Agreement, participate in any other
commercial activity which may be comparable to the commercial activity engaged in by the Company, without the prior written consent of the Company.
 
2. Duties of Employee.  
The duties of the Employee shall include the performance of all duties typical of and commensurate with that of Controller. The duties of the Employee may
be changed, appended, limited or expanded at the sole discretion of either the CEO or the Company’s Board of Directors. The Employee will use his/her
reasonable best efforts to perform such duties and responsibilities in a professional, efficient and businesslike manner.

 
Employee agrees to be so employed by the Company and agrees to devote substantially all of his business time, attention, skill and efforts to perform

services for the Company and to faithfully and diligently discharge and fulfill his duties hereunder to the best of his abilities.
 

(a) Compliance with Company Policies and Procedures. Employee shall, in the performance of his duties, carry out the Company’s policies,
procedures, rules, regulations, memoranda and directives as may be established from time to time, including, but not limited to those set forth
regarding sexual harassment, use of the internet and equal employment opportunity and must sign and comply with the Company’s employee
handbook.

 

 



 

 
(b) Primary Office Location. The Company’s principal office shall be located at 601 North State Rd. 7 Plantation Florida, or at such other location

as may be determined by the Company from time to time. If such other location requires the Employee to relocate in order to allow him/her to
satisfactorily perform his/her duties, the Company shall give the Employee a reasonable relocation allowance. Employee shall be available for
travel from time to time as is reasonably necessary in performance of the Company’s Business. Employee shall not be reimbursed for
commutation to and from the Company’s primary business location. Employee shall travel to such other places at such times as the needs of the
Company may from time-to-time dictate or may be desirable.

 
3. Term.
The term (“Term”) of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue until terminated pursuant to paragraph 6 below.
 
4. Compensation.
For services rendered by the Employee pursuant to this Agreement, the Company shall pay or award compensation to the Employee as follows:
 

(a) Base Salary. Effective with the Employee’s first day of employment, the Company shall pay to the Employee a base annual salary of $125,000,
payable bi-weekly in accordance with the policies, payroll practices and procedures of the Company, as in effect from time to time, including
but-not limited to withholding of applicable taxes, FICA and similar items.

 
(b) Equity Incentive Program. The Employee shall receive Stock options as per the Stock Option Agreement attached as Exhibit A subject to the

Equity Incentive Plan enacted by the Company.
 

(c) Additional Compensation. Employee shall receive 0.5% of LMP Motors affiliate pretax net profits with a maximum of 50% of Employees base
salary commencing 12 months after the date of employment. For the first year of employment the Employee will be guaranteed a $48,000
annual bonus paid quarterly.

 
5. Benefits. Vacation and Reimbursements for Reasonable Expenses.
In addition to the Base Salary in connection with the Employee’s employment by the Company, the Company will provide the Employee use of 1 corporate
vehicle free of charge or allowance of $600 per month. The Employee shall be eligible to receive such vacation time and benefits as per the Company’s
employee handbook.
 
6. Termination.
Employment with Company is for no specific period of time and shall be considered at-will, meaning that either party is free to terminate the employment
relationship without cause upon oral or written notice. Although Employee’s job duties, title, compensation and benefits, as well as the Company’s personnel
policies and procedures, may change from time to time, the “at will” nature of employment may only be changed in an express written agreement signed by
Employee and a duly authorized officer of the Company.
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7. Injunctive Relief.
Employee acknowledges that Employee’s breach of the covenants contained in Exhibit B and/or the applicable agreements incorporated therein by reference
(collectively “Covenants”) could cause irreparable injury to the Company and agrees that in the event of any such breach or threatened breach, the Company
and/or its successors and assigns shall be entitled to seek temporary or preliminary injunctive relief without the necessity of posting any bond or other
security, in addition to any other rights or remedies the Company and/or its successors and assigns may have for damages.
 

8. Final Agreement.
This Agreement terminates and supersedes all prior understandings or agreements on the subject matter hereof and constitutes the entire agreement between
the parties on such subject matter. This Agreement may be modified only by a further writing that is duly executed by both parties.
 

9. Governing Law, Non-Binding Mediation; Binding Arbitration.
This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida without reference to its choice of law rules.
 

Except for claims for injunctive relief involving a breach or threatened breach by Employee of any of the provisions of the Confidentiality and Non-
Solicitation Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit B, the Company and Employee hereby mutually agree that any disputes between them related to or arising
out of this Agreement, including but not limited to disputes regarding Employee’s employment with the Company or the termination of Employee’s
employment with the Company must be submitted for resolution by binding arbitration in accordance with the most current Employment Arbitration Rules
and Mediation Procedures of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”), including the Optional Appellate Arbitration Rules (“Appellate Rules”). A
court of competent jurisdiction shall have the authority to enter a judgment upon the award made pursuant to the arbitration.
 
Prior to filing any demand for arbitration, the Company and/or Employee must first submit the applicable dispute to non-binding mediation conducted in
Miami-Dade County, under the rules of the AAA. If mediation fails to resolve the applicable dispute, the Company and/or Employee may then file a demand
for arbitration. The Parties shall bear equally all administrative costs incurred in connection with any such mediation, including the mediator’s fee.
 
Except as it otherwise provides, this arbitration provision requires all such disputes be resolved only by an arbitrator through arbitration, and not by a trial in
court with a judge or jury. Employee and the Company are voluntarily and knowingly waiving their right to trial by jury. The arbitration will become final and
binding upon exhaustion or expiration of the parties’ right to appeal under the Appellate Rules.
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Disputes subject to this arbitration provision include, without limitation, disputes arising out of or relating to interpretation or application of the Agreement.
This arbitration provision also applies, without limitation, and to the maximum extent permitted by law, to disputes regarding the employment relationship,
trade secrets, unfair competition, compensation, breaks and rest periods, termination, or harassment and claims arising under statutes such as the Uniform
Trade Secrets Act, Civil Rights Act of 1964, Americans With Disabilities Act, Age Discrimination in Employment Act, Family and Medical Leave Act, Fair
Labor Standards Act, Employee Retirement Income Security Act, and state statutes and local ordinances, if any, addressing the same or similar subject
matters, and all other state statutory and common law claims. Further, this arbitration provision applies to claims arising out of the employment relationship
alleged against co-workers, supervisors, officers, affiliates, subsidiaries and related companies, and persons or entities acting, or implicitly or explicitly
alleged to be acting, as the employer jointly or in concert with the Company. Such persons and entities are intended beneficiaries to this arbitration provision
with the same right to compel arbitration to the same extent as the Company. Finally, this arbitration provision is intended to cover any dispute now in
existence (including all claims or potential claims having accrued to date), as well as any disputes arising in the future, related to Employees’ employment.
 
Disputes which are not subject to arbitration under this arbitration provision are: (a) disputes concerning the enforceability of this arbitration provision, which
must be decided by a court; (b) claims for workers’ compensation benefits; (c) claims for government disability benefits; and (d) claims for unemployment
insurance. Further, nothing in this arbitration provision shall preclude Employee from filing complaints or charges with any governmental agency, including
without limitation charges filed with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and any similar state or local “EEO” agency, the United States
Department of Labor, and the Securities and Exchange Commission. Nothing in this arbitration provision shall excuse Employee from bringing an
administrative claim before any governmental agency in order to fulfill Employee’s obligation to exhaust administrative remedies before making a claim in
arbitration. In addition, nothing in this arbitration provision shall prevent either the Company or Employee from applying to courts where necessary to obtain
emergency or temporary injunctive relief in order to prevent irreparable harm pending arbitration of the dispute between the Parties.
 
Binding arbitration under this arbitration provision shall be conducted in Miami-Dade County, Florida, unless the parties mutually agree to another location.
The arbitration shall be conducted before a neutral arbitrator selected by both parties from the AAA’s Employment Dispute Resolution Roster. Costs of the
arbitration will be governed by the AAA’s Employment Arbitration Rules and Mediation Procedures. The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure and any
comparable state rules shall not apply to the binding arbitration; however, the parties will be permitted to conduct discovery in accordance with the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. The arbitrator shall issue a written opinion setting forth the factual and legal findings and conclusions on which his or her decision
is based.
 
The arbitrator shall be authorized to award whatever remedies are allowed by law, but such remedies shall be limited to those that would be available to a
party in a court of law for the claims presented to, and decided by, the arbitrator. Except as may be permitted or required by law, neither a party nor an
arbitrator may disclose the existence, content, or results of any arbitration hereunder without the prior written consent of all Parties.
 
A demand for arbitration must be submitted within the appropriate statute of limitations period under governing law. The arbitrator shall resolve all disputes
regarding the timeliness or propriety of the demand for arbitration.
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In the event any portion of this arbitration provision is deemed invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this arbitration provision will be valid and
enforceable. In the event that any portion of the Appellate Rules are deemed invalid, void or unenforceable, the right of either party to appeal from an
arbitration award shall be abolished and the arbitration award shall be final and binding.
 
A copy of the current versions of AAA’s Employment Arbitration Rules and Mediation Procedures and the Appellate Rules are available online at
https://www.adr.org/Rules
 
____ By initialing here, Employee acknowledges [he/she] has read this Section 9 in its entirety and understands and agrees with the arbitration provision
herein and has received the Company employee handbook.
 
10. Headings.
Headings used in this Agreement are provided for convenience only and shall not be used to construe meaning or intent.
 
11. Non-Solicitation of Employees.
Employee agrees to read sign and abide by the Company’s Non-Solicitation, Confidentiality and Inventions Assignment Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit
B.
 
12. General Provisions.
 

(a) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which is deemed to be an original and all of which taken
together constitute one and the same agreement.

 
(b) Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is intended to bind and inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by Employee, the Company and their

respective heirs, successors and assigns. The Company may assign this Agreement to any person or entity, including, but not limited to, any
successor, parent, subsidiary or affiliated entity of the Company. The Company also may assign this Agreement in connection with any sale or
merger (whether a sale or merger of stock or assets or otherwise) of the Company or the business of the Company. Employee expressly consents
to the assignment of the commitments, restrictions and undertakings set forth in Sections 11 above of this Agreement to any new owner of the
Company’s business or purchaser of the Company. Employee may not assign, pledge, or encumber his interest in this Agreement, or any part
thereof, without the written consent of the Company.

 
(c) Amendment and Waiver. The provisions of this Agreement may be amended or waived only with the prior written consent of the Company and

Employee, which consent explicitly states the intent of both parties hereto to supplement the terms herein, and no course of conduct or failure or
delay in enforcing the provisions of this Agreement shall affect the validity, binding effect or enforceability of this Agreement. Either party’s
failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such provision, or prevent that party
thereafter from enforcing each and every other provision of this Agreement.
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(d) Attorneys’ Fees. Each side will bear its own attorneys’ fees in any dispute unless a statutory section at issue, if any, authorizes the award of

attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party.
 

(e) Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement is found to be unenforceable by an arbitrator or court of competent jurisdiction, such
provision shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to allow enforceability of the provision as so limited, it being intended that the
parties shall receive the benefit contemplated herein to the fullest extent permitted by law. If a deemed modification is not satisfactory in the
judgment of such arbitrator or court, the unenforceable provision shall be deemed deleted, and the validity and enforceability of the remaining
provisions shall not be affected thereby.

 
(f) Interpretation; Construction. The headings set forth in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be used in interpreting this

Agreement. This Agreement has been drafted by legal counsel representing the Company, but Employee has participated in the negotiation of its
terms. Furthermore, Employee acknowledges that he has had an opportunity to review and revise the Agreement and have it reviewed by legal
counsel, if desired, and, therefore, the normal rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party
shall not be employed in the interpretation of this Agreement.

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written above.
 
Company:  Employee:
   
LMP Motors.com, LLC   
   
Samer Tawfik President, CEO and   
Chairman of the Board of Directors  Bryan Silverstein
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

   
I, Samer Tawfik, certify that:

 
1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc.;

 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.
 
Date: February 25, 2020  
  
/s/ Samer Tawfik  
Samer Tawfik  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
of Directors

 

(principal executive officer)  
 



Exhibit 31.2
    

CERTIFICATION
    

I, Bryan Silverstein, certify that:
 
1.  I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc.;

 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5.  The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.
 
Date: February 25, 2020
 
/s/ Bryan Silverstein  
Bryan Silverstein  
Chief Financial Officer  
(principal financial officer and principle accounting officer)  
 
 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

   
Each of the undersigned hereby certifies, in his capacity as an officer of LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), for the purposes of 18

U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:
 

(1)  The Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2)  The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Dated: February 25, 2020  
  
/s/ Samer Tawfik  
Samer Tawfik  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors  
(principal executive officer)  
  

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and will be retained by
LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
 
 

 



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

   
The undersigned hereby certifies, in his capacity as an officer of LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), for the purposes of 18 U.S.C.

Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:
 

(1)  The Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 

(2)  The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Dated: February 25, 2020  
  
 
/s/ Bryan Silverstein  
Bryan Silverstein  
Chief Financial Officer  
(principal financial officer and principle accounting
officer)

 

 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and will be retained by

LMP Automotive Holdings, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

 
 

 


